Cabinet
Date:
Time:

Thursday, 17 December 2015
6.15 pm

Venue:

Committee Room 3 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer:
Tel:
e-mail:
Website:

Patrick Sebastian
0151 691 8424
patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1.

MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest, in connection
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state
the nature of the interest.

2.

MINUTES
The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published. Any
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.
RECOMMENDATION: That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER'S UPDATE
3.

COUNCIL TAX BASE 2016/17 (Pages 1 - 18)

4.

COUNCIL BUDGET 2016/17 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL
STRATEGY (Pages 19 - 50)

5.

COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER FOR NUMBERS 305, 307 AND
321 BOROUGH ROAD, BIRKENHEAD (Pages 51 - 60)

6.

2015/16 QUARTER 2 - CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE
REPORTS (Pages 61 - 70)

CABINET MEMBER REPORTS
7.

WIRRAL COUNCIL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2015-2020
(Pages 71 - 98)

8.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 1)
To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

9.

EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND
PUBLIC
The following items contain exempt information.
RECOMMENDATION: That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of the following item of business on the
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A (as
amended) to that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied
and favours exclusion.

10.

COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER FOR NUMBERS 305, 307 AND
321 BOROUGH ROAD, BIRKENHEAD (Pages 99 - 100)

11.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR
(PART 2)
To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

CABINET
17 DECEMBER
COUNCIL TAX BASE 2016/17

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES
Councillor Phil Davies, Leader said:
‘’Making sure that the Council has enough income to provide the services residents
rely on, while keeping Council Tax levels at a fair and equitable level which residents
can afford is extremely important to this Cabinet.
We have consistently demonstrated we are up to this task and once again this year
are setting out our proposals which generates the revenue the Council requires while
protecting the most vulnerable, in line with the Pledges set out in our Wirral Plan for
2020.’’
REPORT SUMMARY
This report brings together related issues regarding the proposed Council Tax TaxBase for 2016/17 upon which the annual billing and Council Tax levels will be set;
the proposed Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions for 2016/17 and the Council
Tax Support Scheme to be used during 2016/17. All need to be approved by Council
by 31 January 2016.
RECOMMENDATION/S
1. That the figure of 90,481.9 be approved by Cabinet and recommended to Council
as the Council Tax-Base for 2016/17.
2. That the level and award of each local discount for 2016/17 be made as follows:Wirral Women’s & Children’s Aid
To award the Refuge discount of 50% and the Flat’s Discount of 75%.

Empty Property Discounts
The discount and premium rate charges remain unchanged for 2016/17:Discount category D 0%.
- Full charge on properties undergoing renovations.
Discount category C 0%
- Full charge on empty properties from date they become unoccupied.
Empty Premium 150%
- Properties empty for more than two years
3

That the Council Tax Support Scheme approved for use in 2015/16 is also
approved as the Scheme for 2016/17

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1.

To allow Members to be aware of the Council Tax base for 2016/17 and the
factors taken account in its calculation.

1.2.

To allow Members to decide on the level of Local Discounts and the content
of the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2016/17 taking account of the financial
issues impacting on the authority as well as charge payers.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

The Local Discounts, Exemptions and the Council Tax Support Scheme could
be amended from that proposed which will have financial impact for the
authority as set out in each part of this report.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

The Authority has a number of statutory decisions that it must make each year
with regard its administration of Council Tax. The three which are required to
be agreed by Council by 31 January are set out in this report.

3.2

The Authority is required to annually determine its Council Tax Tax-Base in
order to determine the appropriate levels for Wirral, the Preceptor Authorities
(Police & Crime Commissioner and Fire & Rescue Services). The Tax-Base
has a direct impact on the Council Tax that will be levied for Wirral for
2016/17. This decision could be a delegated function but the matter is to be
considered by Cabinet and Council for 2016/17. The calculation and factors
taken into consideration are set out in Appendix 1.

3.3

Local Discounts can be granted under Section 13a of the Local Government
Act 1992 and are used in Wirral to support Wirral Women’s Aid Refuge.
These are reviewed annually. The Local Government Finance Act 2012
introduced changes in national Council Tax discounts and exemptions. These
were considered and adopted for 2013/14 by Cabinet on 24 January 2013
and cover the level of discount awarded on empty properties and the premium
charged on long term empties. These were unchanged for 2014/15 and
2015/16. Wirral has chosen to maximise the amount payable in each category
and must review its charges again for 2016/17. The calculation and factors
taken into consideration are set out in Appendix 2 of this report.

3.4

In April 2013 the Government replaced the national Council Tax Benefits
Scheme with a localised scheme of support which would be set and
administered by each Council to support people on low income. Certain
national parameters remain such as previous levels of support must continue
for pensioners and vulnerable people as defined by each Council. Wirral’s
Council Tax Support Scheme is largely based on the previous Council Tax
Benefit Scheme. The Scheme must be approved by each 31 January prior to

the year it will be applied. The calculations, implications and factors taken
into consideration are set out in Appendix 3
4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The Council Tax Tax-Base is used to calculate Council Tax levels for
2016/17. Failure to comply with timescales could delay Council Tax bills with
the potential to affect collection and cash-flow. On the assumption that the
levels of support under the Local Council Tax Support Scheme and the
Discounts and Exemptions remain unchanged from existing arrangements the
increase in the Council Tax-Base from 2015/16 to 2016/17 will result in
increased Council Tax income of approximately £1.7 million in
2016/17.Wirral’s share, after the non-collection allowance, is applied will be
£1.4 million.

4.2

For Local Discounts variations to the discount levels will either generate
additional or less income. The cost of local discounts are met in full by the
Council and do not impact upon the Council Tax-Base. Any saving to the
Council will result in an increase in the amount payable by the charge payer.

4.3

Table 1: Local Government Act 1992 Local Discounts
Wirral Women & Children’s Aid
Council Tax Discretionary Relief (Hardship)
Total

£
3,502
50,000
53,502

4.4

Table 2: Local Government Act 2012 Empty Property Discounts
Income from minimising discounts
£
Empty properties –unoccupied/renovation
2,517,000
(Discount C+D) = 0%
Empty property – premium of 150%
582,029
Total
3,099,029

4.5

For 2016/17 the Council Tax Support Scheme will be retained. The estimated
value of the support provided will be £27 million based on the current number
of claimants.

5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The legislation requiring this calculation is the Local Authorities (Calculation of
Council Tax-Base) Regulations 1992. This requires the Authority to declare,
by means of Council resolution, the Tax-Base it will use to calculate the tax
level and this resolution must be no later than 31 January in the year
preceding the tax.

5.2

This decision, could be delegated under Section 84 of the Local Government
Act 2003, amended Section 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
such that a full Council meeting is no longer required to adopt the Council Tax
Base. The Council could then delegate the Tax Base determination function
in accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972.

5.3

Publication of the Council Tax Discounts and Exemptions and the Council Tax
Support Scheme for 2016/17 is required by 31 January 2016.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1

There are no IT, asset or specific staffing implications arising directly from this
report.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

If the Council Tax Tax-Base figure is not declared by 31 January 2016 the
Council and Preceptor Authorities will be unable to make considered
budgetary decisions that could delay the Council Tax bills and income
streams for 2016/17.

7.2

In respect of Local Discounts and Exemptions the changes made to domestic
empty property charges raised anticipated collection by in excess of £3
million. Collection is ongoing and as anticipated a lower figure than the overall
collection rate is being collected given the nature of these charges. Any
changes to the current level of discounts or reduction to the empty premium
would see a reduction in Council Tax raised and the income lost would have
to be replaced by an alternate income stream.

7.3

That the Council Tax Support Scheme will give a reduced level of support to
individuals which increase their risk of further financial hardship. For the
Council this Scheme has the capacity to be a growth item and impact on its
overall budgetary position because if the decision is taken to raise the amount
of support given then the cost of the Scheme rises.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1

No consultation is required in the calculation of the Tax-Base. The Discount
and Exemptions are proposed to be maintained at the previous year’s level
and no direct consultation has been undertaken on discount levels. The
Council Tax Support Scheme similarly stays unaltered in its Scheme rules and
as such this does not require formal consultation as was undertaken prior to
its introduction.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The link to the Equality Impact Assessments for the Discount and Council Tax
Support Scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0

REPORT AUTHOR:

Neil Powell
Income and Debt Manager
Telephone
0151 666 3505
Email:
neilpowell@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

COUNCIL TAX TAX-BASE 2016/17
COUNCIL TAX LOCAL DISCOUNTS 2016/17
COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2016/17

REFERENCE MATERIAL
Department for Communities and Local Government; - Council Tax (CTB1) form and
accompanying documentation.
Local Government Finance Act 1992, 2003 and 2012.
Valuation Office Agency - Valuation List.
Welfare Reform Act 2012.
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012.
SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting
Cabinet
Cabinet
Cabinet

Date
24 January 2013
28 January 2014
9 December 2014

APPENDIX 1
COUNCIL TAX TAXBASE 2016/17
1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1.

The Authority is required to annually determine its Council Tax-Base. This is
in order to determine the appropriate levels for Wirral, the Preceptor
Authorities (Police & Crime Commissioner and Fire & Rescue Services) and
the Environment Agency (Flood Defence). The Council Tax-Base has a direct
impact on the Council Tax that will be levied for Wirral for 2016/17 and the
level of Revenue Support Grant received from Central Government.

1.2.

This Council Tax-Base can be a delegated function. However it is considered
that the matter is considered by Cabinet and Council for 2016/17. The Council
Tax-Base must be agreed by 31 January 2016 and will be used to calculate
the Council Tax charges for 2016/17.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1.

The Tax-Base calculation process is as follows;
 Calculate the number of properties at October 2015 adjusting for changes
due to demolitions and new builds up to 31 March 2017 which are then
converted to a full year Band D equivalent. There is then an adjustment for
discounts, exemptions and disabled relief and add in any changes
expected over the year reflecting the Council Tax Support Scheme and
changes to empty discounts.
 Convert the number of “discounted” dwellings in each Council Tax Band to
Band D equivalent;
 Adjust the total number of Band D equivalents by the estimated Council
Tax collection rate for the year. The amended calculation is as below and
will be utilised in calculating the Council Tax charge for 2016/17.

2.2.

The properties per Council Tax band within Wirral as at October 2015:Table 3: Wirral Council Tax bandings as at October 2015
Band Value (£)
Properties Change Properties
2014
2015
A
<40,000
59,158
792
59,950
B
40,001-52,000
31,869
273
32,142
C
52,001-68,000
27,174
-65
27,109
D
68,001-88,000
13,200
-4
13,196
E
88,001-120,000
8,070
3
8,073
F
120,001-160,000
4,225
13
4,238
G
160,001-320,000
3,078
4
3,082
H
>320,000
264
-3
261
Total
147,038
1,013
148,051

Band Ratio
%
40.5
6/9
21.7
7/9
18.3
8/9
8.8
9/9
5.5 11/9
2.9 13/9
2.1 15/9
0.2 18/9
100.0

2.3.

The properties are then converted to the Band D equivalent and adjusted for
the Council Tax Support Scheme and other Council Tax Discount,
Exemptions and Disabled Relief and then adjusted by the Collection Rate to
give the Council Tax-Base.

Table 4: Wirral Council Tax Band D calculation 2016/17
Properties Changes due Revised
Ratio to
as at
to Council
property
Band D
October
Tax Support, equivalent
2015
discounts
and
exemptions
A
59,950
-26,004
33,946
6/9
B
32,142
-7,681
24,461
7/9
C
27,109
-4,331
22,778
8/9
D
13,196
-1,529
11,667
9/9
E
8,073
-730
7,343
11/9
F
4,238
-318
3,920
13/9
G
3,082
-189
2,893
15/9
H
261
-35
226
18/9
Band A Disabled
75
5/9
(1/9th of Band A)
Total
148,051
-40,817
107,309
Collection Rate
Adjusted Council Tax-Base
Band

Net Band D
equivalent

22,630.6
19,025.6
20,247.4
11,666.6
8,974.4
5,661.8
4,820.8
452.7
41.4
93,521.3
x 96.75%
90,481.9

2.4

The Collection Rate takes into consideration previous experience and current
collection rates. Last year’s projections are so far proving accurate and it is
recommended to continue with the Collection Rate of 96.75%.

2.5

The Collection Rate is the rate that best reflects collection over more than just
the current year and will therefore take longer than the financial year to
achieve. All previous year collections have ultimately met or exceeded
projections and this rate should be achieved for 2016/17.

2.6

The recommended figure for 2016/17 is 90,481.9. Compared to the 2015/16
figure of 89,345 this is an increase of 1,136.9.

2.7

The level of Council Tax is confirmed at Budget Council which for 2016/17 is
scheduled for 3 March 2016.

3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

If the Council Tax-Base figure is not declared by 31 January 2016 the Council
and Preceptor Authorities will be unable to make considered budgetary
decisions that could delay the Council Tax bills for 2016/17.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

None as the Council has to set the Council Tax-Base by 31 January each
year.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

None required in calculating the Council Tax-Base figure.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

6.1

There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING AND ASSETS

7.1

The Council Tax-Base is used to calculate Council Tax levels for 2016/17.
Failure to comply with timescales could delay Council Tax bills with the
potential to affect collection and cash-flow.

7.2

On the assumption that the levels of support under the Local Council Tax
Support Scheme and the Discounts and Exemptions remain unchanged from
2015/16 the increase in the Council Tax-Base from 2015/16 to 2016/17 will
result in increased Council Tax income of around £1.7.million in 2016/17.
Wirral’s share, after the non-collection allowance is applied, will be £1.4
million.

7.3

There are no IT, asset or staffing implications arising directly from this report.

8.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

The legislation requiring this calculation is the Local Authorities (Calculation of
Council Tax-Base) Regulations 1992. This requires the Authority to declare,
by means of Council resolution, the Tax-Base it will use to calculate the tax
level and this resolution must be no later than 31 January in the year
preceding the tax.

8.2

This decision, could be delegated under Section 84 of the Local Government
Act 2003, amended Section 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
such that a full Council meeting is no longer required to adopt the Council Tax
Base. The Council could then delegate the Tax Base determination function in
accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972.

9.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1

There are no implications arising from this report and an Equality Impact
Assessment is not required.

10.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1

There are no implications arising directly from this report.

11.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1

There are no implications arising directly from this report.

12.0

RECOMMENDATION

12.1

That the figure of 90,481.9. be approved by Cabinet and recommended to
Council as the Council Tax-Base for 2016/17.

13.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

13.1. To allow Members to agree and be aware of the Council Tax-Base for
2016/17 and the factors included in its calculation.

APPENDIX 2
COUNCIL TAX LOCAL DISCOUNTS & EXEMPTIONS 2016/17
1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

Local Discounts and Exemptions are subject to an annual review and impact
directly upon the Council Tax income to the Council. From 1 April 2013 the
Council adopted 0% discount levels for empty properties and properties
undergoing construction, where previously they had been exempt for 6 and 12
months respectively thus receiving a 100% discount. This report reviews
these reduced discounts and increased charges and also the current levels of
specific local discounts. Any amendment or granting of discount agreed as
part of this report will come into force from 1 April 2016.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1

Councils can reduce the Council Tax paid by using locally defined discounts.
The discount granted can be anything up to 100% and is met fully from
Council resources. The original driving force behind the introduction of these
discounts was to allow Councils to react to local circumstances such as
flooding or other natural disasters. These discounts do not affect the TaxBase calculation and are not required to be published in advance.

2.2

Any amendment or granting of discount agreed as part of this report will come
into force from 1 April 2016.
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1992 – LOCAL DISCOUNTS

2.3

Local Discounts, as used by Wirral, are granted under Section 13a of the
Local Government Act 1992 and reviewed annually.
Table 5: Local Government Act 1992 Local Discounts in Wirral 2015/16
£
Wirral Women & Children’s Aid
3,502
Council Tax Discretionary Relief (Hardship)
50,000
Total
53,502
Wirral Women & Children’s Aid

2.4

Cabinet on 22 July 2004 awarded a local discount to Wirral Women’s and
Children’s Aid. The discount has been confirmed annually to date at 50% for
the refuge and 75% for both flats, leaving no Council Tax to pay, on the basis
of the valuable work undertaken at the premises. The circumstances have
remained unaltered and the cost of the award is currently £3,502.

2.5

A decision is required as to whether this discount continues for 2016/17.

Council Tax Discretionary Hardship Relief
2.6

Regulations allow that a discount can be granted to an individual in case of
extreme hardship and that is covered by the Council’s Council Tax
Discretionary Relief policy (minute 71, 10 October 2013) or a discount can be
granted to all empty properties within a specific area, such as a clearance
area. This can give more flexibility to the Council which has to fund any locally
defined discounts.

2.7

A decision is required as to whether Council Tax Discretionary Hardship
Relief continues in its current format for 2016/17.
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2012 – DISCOUNTS AND EXEMPTIONS

2.8

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced changes in national
Council Tax discounts and exemptions which gave local authorities local
discretion as to levels of discounts. These were considered and adopted by
Cabinet on 24 January 2013 (minute 166) for the 2013/14 financial year and
have continued in subsequent years. Wirral chose to maximise the charges it
raises by minimising the discount awarded, i.e. 0%.
Table 8: Local Government Act 2012 Empty Property Discounts 2015/16
Income from minimising discounts
£
Empty properties –unoccupied/renovation
2,517,000
(Discount C+D) = 0%
Empty property – premium of 150%
582,029
Total
3,099,029
Empty Properties Discount

2.9

The changes allowed by the 2012 Act covered charges made against empty
property and second homes. In broad terms this removed the exempt
classifications A and C and allowed Councils to define their own level of
discounts re-categorising them as discounts C and D. The Regulations also
allowed Councils to apply a premium on properties that had been empty for
more than two years with the maximum premium being 50% on top of the
100% Council Tax already levied.

2.10

Council chose to award 0% discount (Discount D) – full charge - on properties
undergoing renovations (Exemption A) which were previously entitled to a 12
month exemption, or 100% discount. The major impact other than increased
charges, based upon this change is that as there is no incentive to inform the
Council Tax section that a property is undergoing major repairs.

2.11

Council chose to similarly award a 0% discount (Discount C) – full charge - on
empty properties that had previously been exempt for the first six months that
they were empty, or 100% discount. This has received the most negative
comments in our contacts. Disputes have increased between tenants and
landlords as to the date a tenant left the property. Previously as there was a
six month exemption neither party was immediately liable as Council Tax was
not payable and the majority were able to be adequately resolved. The charge
is levied now from day one and disputes often occur which have to be
resolved by Council Tax staff. This maximisation of charge is anticipated to
raise an additional £2,517,000 in Council Tax during 2016/17.

2.12

As there is no longer an incentive, in the form of a reduction, for owners to
inform whether a property is empty or undergoing renovation it has been
decided to combine the information from now on rather than report separately
and possibly inaccurately.

2.13

A further issue for landlords is that this immediate charge does not give any
opportunity to “turn a property around” for a new tenant to take over without
incurring a Council Tax liability. Landlord representative’s state they are
denied rental income whilst readying a property for a new tenant but are
charged full Council Tax in that time. If the Council were to grant a 100%
discount for the first month that a property became empty this would clearly
alleviate some of the problems mentioned. However if this proposal from
landlords was implemented then this would cost an estimated £400,000 in lost
Council Tax income.

2.14

The Council similarly resolved to charge the maximum amount of Premium on
properties that had been empty for more than two years which is 150%. The
aim of this was to encourage prompt property re-occupation and discourage
properties being held empty by speculators waiting for an increase in values.
To remove the Premium would cost £582,029 in lost Council Tax income if
property eligibility levels in 2016/17 are the same as in the previous year.

3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1.

The changes made to empty properties raised anticipated additional Council
Tax charges in the region of £3.million net. Collection is ongoing and a lower
figure than the overall charged sums is being collected.

3.2.

Any increase to the current level of discounts, or reduction to the empty
premium, would see a reduction in Council Tax raised and collected. The
income foregone would have to be replaced by another income or budget
stream or would be a cut in total Council budgets.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

The options available are as detailed in Section 2 of this Appendix.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

The level of charges for discounts and exemptions were consulted on in
2012/13 and no specific consultation has been undertaken on their levels for
2016/17 as they are not proposed to be changed. The highlighted issues that
landlords have made the service area aware of are set out in this report.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

6.1

As no changes are proposed then the numbers looking to access these
organisations for support and advice should not be impacted by these
proposals.

7.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

7.1

The financial impact is dependent on the level of Local Discounts that Council
resolve to take forward and variations to the discount levels will either
generate additional or less income than as proposed below;
Table 9: Local Government Act 1992 Local Discounts
Wirral Women & Children’s Aid
Council Tax Discretionary Relief (Hardship)
Total

£
3,502
50,000
53,502

Table 10: Local Government Act 2012 Empty Property Discounts
Income from minimising discounts
£
Empty properties – unoccupied Discount of 0%
2,517,000
Empty property – premium of 150%
582,029
Total
3,099,029
7.2

The cost of local discounts are met in full by the Council and do not impact
upon the Council Tax-Base.

7.3.

There are no IT, asset or staffing implications arising directly from this report.

8.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Legal publication of the decisions made will be required.

9.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The Equality Impact Assessment link is shown;
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0

10.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1

There are none arising directly from this report.

11.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1

There are none arising directly from this report.

12.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

12.1

That the level and award of each local discount for 2016/17 be as follows:Wirral Women’s & Children’s Aid
To award the Refuge discount of 50% and the Flat’s Discount of 75%.
Empty Property Discounts
The discount and premium rate charges remain unchanged for 2016/17:Discount category D 0%. - Full charge on properties undergoing renovations.
Discount category C 0% - Full charge on empty properties from date they
become unoccupied.
Empty Premium 150% - Properties empty for more than two years

13.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1

To allow Cabinet to decide on the level of local discounts to be awarded for
2016/17 being able to take account of the financial issues impacting on the
Authority as well as charge payers.

APPENDIX 3
COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2016/17
1.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

This report details the current status of recipients of Wirral’s Council Tax
Support Scheme and details options available for consideration for 2016/17
and proposes the scheme to be adopted be largely unaltered from that used
for the last 3 years. The 2016/17 scheme must be adopted by Council no later
than 31 January 2016.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES - COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT

2.1

Central Government abolished Council Tax Benefit (CTB) on 31 March 2013
and tasked each administering Council to formulate an individual Local
Scheme to replace it. At the same time Central Government reduced the grant
they awarded to Councils for CTB by 10%. The Government also stated that
any local Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) devised should leave
pensioners no worse off than they were under the 2012/13 CTB scheme. The
option was also given to define vulnerable groups and offer the groups the
same level of protection as pensioners. Wirral designated persons classed as
disabled or with disabled children as vulnerable in 2013/14.

2.2

At 31 October 2015 there were 35,230 Council Tax Support claimants in
receipt of Council Tax Support totalling £27 million.
Table 11: Council Tax Support Scheme claimants at 31 October 2015
By category
Numbers
% of total
Pensioners
14,870
42%
Vulnerable Groups
9,215
26%
Working Age
11,145
32%
Totals
35,230
100%

2.3

Having regard to the financial pressures Council resolved, on 28 January
2013, that it could not find funding from its existing budgets to make up the
shortfall caused by the governments changes and decided to pass on the
reduction to Council Tax Support recipients that resulted in non-vulnerable
working age claimants paying a minimum of 22% of the Council Tax charge.
This decision was supported by both the Council’s “What Really Matters”
consultation scheme and the separate consultation scheme on the Council
Tax Support Scheme.

2.4

The response to the Council Tax Support (CTS) Scheme has seen a
minimum number of appeals against the decisions that Council officers have
had to make.

2.5

Council Tax payment levels of CTS recipients were anticipated to be lower
than the main level, projecting a 66% collection rate on these specific sums.
Thus far actual is in line with projections.

2.6

The current scheme has been reviewed by officers and consideration has
been given to include or exclude different income types on a full or partial
basis, cap the level of Council Tax Support Scheme to a particular Band,
residency timescales, deduction levels for additional occupiers, capital limits,
taper levels and changes to vulnerable groups. This list is not exhaustive but
indicative of the areas reviewed. After three years of the scheme it is felt no
substantive eligibility criteria should be altered and these be retained for the
fourth year 2016/17. We will though look to see how the increasing impact of
Universal Credit is reflected in the scheme for the following year.

2.7

While the impact on individuals undoubtedly has been considerable the local
elements or variances within the scheme were not disproportionate in their
effect. The retention of the vulnerable group and qualifying criteria are as fair
and equitable as could be put forward balancing this against the financial
impacts that face the authority.

2.8

Wirral’s Council Tax Support Scheme is largely based on the previous
national Council Tax Benefit scheme and its calculations mirror Housing
Benefits to build up an entitlement for support. These include applicable
amounts, premiums, disregards and non-dependant deductions. The Scheme,
its impacts and costs are continually monitored and need to annually reviewed
and approved by the 31 January prior to the year it will be applied.

3.0

RELEVANT RISKS

3.1

That the opportunity to amend the local Scheme is not utilised.

4.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

The local Scheme was reviewed and various options to that Scheme have
been considered.

5.0

CONSULTATION

5.1

No specific consultation has been undertaken on the levels for 2016/17 as the
original scheme is retained.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

6.1

As no changes are proposed then the numbers looking to access these
organisations for support and advice should not be impacted by these
proposals.

7.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

7.1

For 2016/17 the Council Tax Support Scheme will be retained. The estimated
value of support provided under the Scheme will be £27 million based on the
current charges.

7.2.

There are no IT, asset or specific staffing implications arising directly from this
report.

8.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Publication of the Scheme for 2016/17 is required by 31 January 2016.

9.0

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The Equality Impact Assessment link is https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15-0

10.0

CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1

There are none arising directly from this report.

11.0

PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

11.1

There are none arising directly from this report.

12.0

RECOMMENDATION

12.1

The Council Tax Support Scheme approved for use in 2013/14 and onwards
is also approved as the Scheme for 2016/17.

13.0

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

13.1

An annual decision has to be taken on the Council Tax Support Scheme
including decisions as to the funding of the impact of up rating calculations in
line with Housing Benefits Scheme and of any increase in Council Tax levels.

CABINET
17 DECEMBER 2015
COUNCIL BUDGET 2016/17 AND
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES
Councillor Phil Davies said:
‘’We continue to face unprecedented financial challenges, as ongoing national
Government austerity policies place huge pressure on the services and support
Wirral people rely on. In our Wirral Plan we made a commitment that we would never
use this as an excuse for doing nothing, and we reaffirm that commitment to Wirral
people today.
Setting a budget for next year is once again a difficult task – made more difficult yet
again by the Chancellor with yet more cuts to local government following his Autumn
Statement.
Of the £24 million which we are currently required to save next year, almost twothirds have been proposed which have no impact at all on the services which we
provide. This is a clear demonstration of our commitment to finding new, innovative
and progressive ways to set a balanced budget and still protect our services and our
residents as best we can.
We are a responsible and pragmatic Administration, and for as long as I am Leader
of this Council we will always set a balanced, fair and sustainable budget which
protects the most vulnerable and makes the best use of our resources to ensure we
can deliver on our Pledges to local people.’’
REPORT SUMMARY
Over the next five years, Wirral Council is projecting a funding gap of £126 million
due to Government austerity measures and increasing demands for services.

The report presents a series of proposed actions to enable the Council to take the
necessary steps to set a balanced budget for 2016/17 and be in a better position to
prepare balanced budgets in the subsequent four years to 2020/21.
The size of the funding gap means that there will be an impact upon services for the
people of Wirral. The Budgets will be informed by, and aligned to the pledges, within
the Wirral Plan.
The focus is on generating more income into the Council and the borough, on finding
new ways of achieving positive outcomes for residents, on building further integration
with our partners and communities and on ensuring the £201 million annual budget
Wirral Council will be investing into the borough by 2020 delivers value for money for
residents.
The recommendations in this report are considered urgent and any delay likely to be
caused by the call process is considered likely to seriously prejudice the council’s
and/or public’s interest in that it would adversely affect the ability of the council to set
a balance budget for 2016/17 as legally required. The Council’s Chief Executive has
agreed that the decision to waive the call-in procedure is reasonable in all the
circumstances and that it should be treated as a matter of urgency.
The report affects all Wards within the Borough.
The decisions in this report are key decisions.
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Cabinet is recommended to:
1. Note the forecast Budget funding gap for 2016/17 is currently £24 million and that
the projected Budget funding gap for the period 2016/21 is £126 million.
2. Note the impact of the Budget reductions and proposals for 2016/17 as
summarised in Section 3.34 and detailed in Appendix A.
3. Authorise officers to complete the required consultation and engagement with
residents, partners and other stakeholders on the budget proposals in advance of
Budget decisions in February 2016 as detailed in Appendix B.
4. Receive an updated Budget Report and Medium Term Financial Strategy at the
Cabinet meeting on 22 February 2016. This to cover the updated financial
projections, including the impact of the Local Government Finance Settlement
expected in mid-December 2015, and the outcome from the engagement and
consultation undertaken.
5. Waive call-in in respect of these decisions as they are considered urgent as any
delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice the
Council’s and/or public’s interest, in that it would adversely affect the ability of
the Council to meet the legal requirement to set a balanced Budget for 2016/17.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1

The Medium Term Financial Strategy and its associated financial governance
arrangements are key to ensuring that the Council is well run and financially
stable. Throughout the year the major financial matters are presented in a
series of reports which highlight the financial position of the Council and the
decisions needed to ensure the Council remains financially stable.

1.2

The Council has to meet a legal requirement to set a balanced Budget in
March 2016 for the 2016/17 financial year. This report details the approach
and includes proposals and initiatives to meet the challenge for 2016/17 and
for the five year period as the Medium Term Financial Strategy supports the
delivery of the Wirral Plan and the outcomes as set out in the Wirral pledges
for 2020.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

The Council has a legal requirement to set a balanced Budget each March for
the following financial year. This report includes proposals and initiatives
which are subject to consultation but, if implemented, increase income or
reduce expenditure which supports the delivery of the Wirral Plan.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

The Council continues to face unprecedented financial challenges. Over the
next five years the Government will remove the Revenue Support Grant and
the Council faces additional demand for services as a consequence of the
demographic changes associated with an ageing population.

3.2

The proposals detailed in this report are intended to enable the Council to
manage the pressures in a planned way not only to meet the legal
requirement for a balanced Budget for 2016/17 but also contribute towards
addressing the forecast funding gap over the period of the Medium Term
Financial Strategy 2016/17 - 2020/21.
FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

3.3

The current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering 2015/162017/18 was approved by Council in February 2015. This detailed the
financial challenge and the size of the anticipated remaining funding gap for
the period to 2017/18. With the development, and agreement, of the Wirral
Plan the MTFS has been extended to cover the years 2016/17-2020/21.

3.4

The Wirral Plan provides the framework within which the Budget and the
MTFS will be developed and informs the development of budgets, the
prioritisation of resources and the difficult decisions that need to be made over
the coming five years. The intention is to set a sustainable, stable budget and
MTFS over the five years.

3.5

It has previously been reported that over the five years 2016/21 the Council
faces a continued, challenging financial future. The reductions in Government
Grant together with the pressures of demographic changes and inflation mean
there is an anticipated funding gap of £126 million over the five years and this
includes a £24 million funding gap in 2016/17.

3.6

The objective is to develop a financial strategy and associated programme of
changes to close the funding gap and focus future limited resources on the
delivery of Wirral Plan outcomes and pledges. This includes using the
council’s projected net revenue budget of £201 million by 2020/21 in the best
way to deliver on our pledges, in partnership with our other public sector
colleagues.
THE CUMULATIVE BUDGET GAP 2016-2021
140

126

120
101
100
74

80
60
40

48
24

20
0
2016-17

3.7

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Forecasts of the financial position are kept under review as circumstances
change and decisions are taken. These are based on assumptions about
inflation, financial pressures and levels of income such as grant.
AUTUMN STATEMENT : SPENDING REVIEW 2015

3.8

The Chancellor of the Exchequer delivered his speech on 25 November 2015.
This confirmed the Government commitment to protect areas of public
spending such as education, health and police. The major changes to welfare
reform were deferred and whilst headlines were released for local government
it is the Local Government Finance Settlement which provides the detail for
individual authorities. The Settlement is to be announced in mid-December
2015.

3.9

It is stated that local government spending, in cash terms, will be the same in
2020 as 2015. However the balance of funding between Government and

local authorities will see Government Grant support reduce with more raised
locally through Council Tax (and the Adult Social Care precept).
3.10

The main areas affecting local government, and impact on Wirral, are:-

3.11

Revenue Support Grant to be phased out by 2020 The Government will be
ending the general grant support to local authorities. The details and timings
will be within the Local Government Finance Settlement. The Government
projections also include potential change to New Homes Bonus moving to a
four year support scheme, rather than the current six years, and additional
support for the Better Care Fund which is linked to the changes to New
Homes Bonus. For Wirral this will lead to the £65 million of Revenue Support
Grant being removed by 2020. This has been factored into the Budget gap of
£126 million over the period 2016/21. Indications are that the Grant could be
reduced by £15 million in 2016/17 (compared to the forecast of £12 million)
which would potentially increases the Budget gap for 2016/17 from £24 million
to £27 million. This will be clarified in the Settlement.

3.12

Other Grant and Changes Details of the Specific Grants will be released with
the Settlement. In the Autumn Statement there was reference to the Public
Health Grant reducing over the period and services being funded by local
authorities following a consultation linked to Business Rates changes. Whilst
Dedicated Schools Grant is to be maintained there will be a £600 million
reduction in Education Support Grant and a new schools funding formula to
come in from 2017 with all secondary schools and Sixth Form colleges to be
Academies by 2020. A new Apprenticeship Levy applicable to major
employers set at 0.5% of pay bill could cost the Council £0.7 million from
2017/18.

3.13

Adult Social Care Precept Councils can levy a 2% levy on Council Tax to
support the costs of social care. With this being through Council Tax the
amount raised by local authorities will depend upon their Council Tax Base
rather than be reflective of the demand or cost of adult social care in the local
authority. It is clear from local and national projections that this precept does
not cover the increased requirements for social care. Government have
assumed in their financial projections that all local authorities will implement
this precept.

3.14

Greater flexibility to local authorities to spend capital receipts The
extension of present arrangements so that all authorities can benefit, rather
than those which met specified criteria, from using capital receipts to fund
‘reform projects’ Wirral presently uses capital receipts from the sale of assets,
buildings and land to fund capital schemes to avoid the need to borrow and
therefore save on the future interest and repayment costs of such borrowing.

3.15

Councils to keep 100% of all business rates collected from 2020 Local
authorities are to keep the rates collected locally by the end of the Parliament
and will be able to determine the level of Business Rates which is presently
set by Government. Reference to the current system of ‘top-ups’ (for
authorities who receive an additional payment reflective of need as they used

to receive from Government more than they collected such as Wirral) and
‘tariffs’(authorities which collect more than they ‘need’) to remain in place. The
Business Rates changes will not impact until 2020 and without the
Government maintaining the ‘top up’ this could mean a £6 million loss of
income to Wirral from 2020/21. There is reference to taking on additional
responsibilities including funding such as Public Health and Housing Benefit
administration which could bring additional costs. This will be subject a future
consultation by Government.
THE WIRRAL PLAN
3.16

The Council Plan was approved by Council on 13 July 2015 and was then
adopted by all strategic partners from the public, private and third sectors to
create the first Wirral Plan.

3.17

The Plan provides a clear ambition for the borough based on three
overarching priority areas::PEOPLE
Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, every child gets
a good start in life and older residents are respected and valued.
BUSINESS
Wirral is a place where employers want to invest and businesses thrive.
ENVIRONMENT
Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where good health and
an excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone who lives here.

3.18

The ambition for Wirral is underpinned by 20 specific pledges which set define
the outcomes to be achieved over the next five years. This shared set of
outcomes, goals and objectives will see work towards integrating services and
budgets and making best use of the available public sector resources for the
benefit of Wirral people. Partners have committed to playing a lead role in
achieving 8 of the 20 pledges.

3.19

To ensure the Wirral Plan becomes a reality there is to be an under-pinning
Delivery Plan. Phase One of this Plan was agreed by Cabinet on 8 October
2015 and this has since been subject to consultation and review in order to
inform the series of strategies and plans which provide the detail as to how
the pledges will be delivered by 2020. The strategies will be reported to
Cabinet on 25 January 2016 with the Delivery Plan Phase Two being reported
to Cabinet in February 2016.
RESIDENTS INSIGHT

3.20

The Council must set a balanced budget, but it must do so in a way which is
strategic and facilitates the delivery of the Wirral Plan. A fundamental principle
in achieving this is to ensure that decisions are made, and policy and strategy

is set, based on robust insight and market intelligence and a complete
understanding of what residents want, need and aspire to.
3.21

The first step in this move towards becoming an insight-led organisation was
the delivery of the 2015 Residents’ Survey, completed on behalf of the
Council by Ipsos Mori. The Council has not undertaken research of this kind
since 2008. The research has told the Council that the fundamental principles
of the Wirral Plan are the right ones.
HIGHEST PRIORITIES AS RATED BY RESIDENTS
Reducing Crime and anti- Social Behaviour
Street Cleanliness and Road maintenance
Encouraging Job Creation and Skills
Support for the Vulnerable (Adults and Children)
Rubbish Collection and Recycling

60%
35%
29%
27%
21%

LOWEST PRIORITIES AS RATED BY RESIDENTS
Housing services
Libraries, Arts and Museums
Road Safety
Parks and Countryside
Sports and Recreation Facilities
3.22

9%
9%
8%
8%
6%

The results of this insight work have been used to develop the budget
proposals, and are being embedded in the production of strategies and the
final Delivery Plan to ensure the achievement of the Wirral Plan Pledges over
the next five years.
THE BUDGET STRATEGY

3.23

The Council has a projected funding gap of £126 million over the next five
years with a current budget gap of £24 million for 2016/17. In achieving the
2016/17 target the organisation has to ensure it is best placed to deliver and
achieve the 20 Pledges for local people that were committed to in the Wirral
Plan.

3.24

The Strategy which has been developed for the next five years is different
from the budget setting process in previous years. The Council is increasingly
planning for the longer-term, with a view to setting sustainable and achievable
5-year plans to deliver improved outcomes for local people. The budget
proposals for 2016/17 demonstrate that approach; with a focus on ensuring
resources are invested in the right places, taking regard of the needs of
residents and the Wirral Plan pledges. The Strategy is produced according to
four overarching themes:

3.25

Income and resource management The Council must do all it can to build
its way to a sound financial position. More investment, more jobs and more
housing coming into the borough transforms our finances. It translates into

more business rates, more Council Tax and more people in work. Every
pound we bring into the Council is a pound we can invest in the kind of
modern service people need.
3.26

Managing Demand Reducing the demand (and subsequently the cost) of
specialist, substantial services mean we are able to invest more resources
into early intervention and prevention services. In line with the Wirral Plan and
the views of residents it is important to protect the vulnerable. The proposals
seek to make no overall reductions in the levels of spending on care services
for adults and children. Working with Health partners to improve the health
and well-being of Wirral people will see the integration of resources to realise
efficiencies to help meet the increasing demand from within the currently
available budget.

3.27

Delivering Differently The Wirral Plan sets out how public services will work
better together to deliver better job opportunities, a quality local environment,
better health and a good life for local children and older people in particular.
The Council continues to find new and innovative ways of working in
partnership to achieve the outcomes Wirral residents need and will build upon
the initiatives around Community Asset Transfer and the recently launched
Schools Company (Edsential) and Day Services company (Wirral Evolutions).

3.28

Service Changes: The scale of the financial reductions which are imposed on
us makes it impossible to avoid changing or reducing some services. We will
do all we can to work with partners to manage the impact of those reductions,
particularly on the most vulnerable, and we will challenge ourselves to be
more efficient, to integrate more and come up with new solutions to make our
money go further.
THE BUDGET FOR 2016/17 AND THE MTFS 2016/21

3.29

At the time of preparing this report there areas number of key elements which
will influence the longer term MTFS and for which clarification is awaited:-

3.30

In the Spending Review the Government set out its intentions regarding the
funding of local government in that local authorities can implement a 2% Adult
Social Care Precept on top of the permissible 1.99% rise in Council Tax, the
General Grant will be phased out by 2020 and local authorities will retain
100% of Business Rates. However it is the Local Government Finance
Settlement which provides the detail for individual authorities. This will be
available in mid-December 2015. The Settlement, and subsequent
announcements, should clarify the phasing of the reduction in the General
Grant and any reductions in Specific Grants.

3.31

The Council has a legal requirement to set a Budget for 2016/17 by March
2016. For future years the MTFS provides a direction of travel for the ensuing
years which will be reviewed and refined as the areas are further developed.
Key influences will be the progression of the Wirral Plan to deliver the key
outcomes for Wirral people as in the 20 pledges. Clearly this work is key to

determining the most effective use of public resources, be it money, people,
buildings, technology or accessing those willing to become more involved.
3.32

The Resident Insight programme has provided initial findings which are being
further analysed. The overall findings need to be understood to inform the
longer term plans, including the MTFS, to ensure that the aspirations and
needs of the people of Wirral are successfully addressed by the
implementation of the Wirral Plan. This programme of insight needs to be
underpinned by further, more detailed insight work to support all aspects of
policy-setting and decision-making.

3.33

The Council wants to ensure the elements detailed have been addressed
before determining the detail of its future financial plans. Therefore the Budget
for 2016/17 will be set in March 2016 with a direction of travel for the ensuing
four years which will be refined in the summer of 2016.

3.34

The proposals for 2016/17 are detailed in Appendix A and summarised as:SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSALS FOR 2016/17

Income and Resource Management
Managing Demand
Delivering Differently
Service Changes
TOTAL PROPOSALS

£000
17,912
2,100
2,161
4,677
26,850

3.35

The proposals, if implemented, .will help the Council set a balanced Budget
for 2016/17. The financial position remains subject to review given the Local
Government Finance Settlement is awaited and the Transport and Waste
levies have to be confirmed.

3.36

For future years the proposals in respect of Income and Resource
Management and Managing Demand are anticipated to continue. They will be
kept under review and inform the annual Budget and Council Tax setting
process. To close the gap further work will be undertaken with actions
focussed on areas such as the opportunities offered by the greater use of
technology, the engagement of the thriving volunteers in Wirral which has
seen a transformation in community centres and libraries as well as reducing
the public subsidy within the area of leisure and culture. These will be
expanded upon further as the Wirral Plan Delivery Plan is developed in the
coming months.
GENERAL FUND BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.37

The level of General Fund balances and reserves that the Council maintains
is critical to its financial resilience. It is important balances and reserves
maintained are sufficient to fund costs that occur be it from planned activities
or unexpected events. A review of reserves, provisions and general fund

balances is being undertaken as part of the process to set the 2016/17
Budget. This will take account of the financial risks anticipated to be faced in
the coming period 2016/21 and known commitments and plans. The outcome
of the review will be reported to Cabinet on 22 February 2016.
CAPITAL PROGRAMME
3.38

The Council has a planned 2015/18 Capital Programme and the 2016/17
onwards Programme will be reported to Budget Cabinet. In preparing this the
existing Programme will be revised with the re-profiling of schemes and the
resources anticipated being available. New schemes will be considered for
inclusion in the Programme.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1

The financial implications are detailed in the report. The projected Budget Gap
for the period 2016/21 has previously been reported as £126 million with £24
million relating to 2016/17. In light of the Autumn Statement : Spending
Review the phasing of the Government Grant reduction could potentially
increase the 2016/17 gap by £3 million but this, and any other grant changes,
will not be known until the Local Government Finance Settlement is issued in
mid-December 2015. The levies for Transport and Waste are anticipated in
February 2015. The financial implications will be further updated in the Budget
/ MTFS Report to Cabinet on 22 February 2016.

5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The Council is required to agree a Budget for 2016/17 by 10 March 2016. As
part of agreeing the Budget the Chief Financial Officer is required under
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 to produce a report on the
robustness of the estimates made for the Council Budget.

5.2

The duty of the Council is to avoid a budget shortfall which is not just an
academic exercise in balancing the books. The Chief Financial Officer of a
local authority has a personal duty under Local Government Finance Act 1988
Section 114A to make a report to the Executive if it appears that the
expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to
incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums
borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1

Investment into ICT continues and the future years will see the development
and implementation of a Digital Strategy. In respect of assets the Council is
reducing the number of buildings it has in order to reduce running costs and
also generate capital receipts from the disposal of surplus assets which are
used to fund capital investment. Those proposals that include implications for
staff form part of the engagement and consultation with Trade Unions and
employees.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS

7.1

The financial position for 2016/21 is based on forecast amounts which are
outside of Council control such as Government funding and the levies from
other bodies as well as reflecting changing demand for services. A key risk is
that any of these assumptions can change which is increasingly the case
when projections are made over the medium term. This is mitigated by
keeping the MTFS under, at least, an annual review.

7.2

The scale of the financial challenge and the Council’s ambitious response to
enable it to deliver the very best outcomes from increasingly limited resources
inevitably carries risk. This report sets out a planned approach to the funding
deficit and the risks that arise are from the considerable reductions in
expenditure required. To mitigate the risks associated with the delivery of the
transformation required, which includes the identification and progression of
Alternative Delivery Models, this will be overseen by the Officer
Transformation Board. Funding for implementing the change exists in the
Remodelling Reserve / Transformation Fund.

7.3

There is a risk that agreed changes will not be delivered. The progress on the
delivery of the agreed Budget will be through the Financial Monitoring reports
presented to Cabinet. The level of General Fund balances includes an
element to reflect the risk associated with the delivery of the savings. In the
medium term the delivery of the new homes is reliant upon developers being
able and prepared to build the housing.

7.4

A number of the decisions in this report are subject to engagement /
consultation with residents and other stakeholders. The results of the
consultations will be assessed by Cabinet as part of Budget decisions in
February 2016.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1

Subject to Cabinet agreement, the Council will immediately commence
appropriate, robust and meaningful consultation on the budget proposals. This
consultation will include working with people who use services, residents and
stakeholders.

8.2

The Council will also work with staff and Trade Unions to ensure obligations in
relation to statutory, staff consultation is delivered appropriately and within
agreed guidelines.

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

For each of the proposals consideration has been given to the need for an
Equality Impact Assessment and the details are in the Appendix.
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impactassessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014

REPORT AUTHOR:

Tom Sault
Head of Financial Services / Acting S151 Officer
Telephone
(0151) 666 3407
Email:
tomsault@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix A Proposals for 2016/17
Appendix B Consultation on proposals for 2017/21
SUBJECT HISTORY
Council Meeting
Cabinet - Revenue Budget 2015/16 and 2015/16 and

Date
10 February 2015

Council Tax Levels 2015/16
Council - Wirral Plan
Cabinet – Delivery Plan (Phase One)
Budget Council Arrangements

13 July 2015
8 October 2015
5 November 2015

APPENDIX A
BUDGET PROPOSALS 2016/17
SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSALS FOR 2016/17

Income and Resource Management
Managing Demand
Delivering Differently
Service Changes
TOTAL PROPOSALS

£000
17,912
2,100
2,161
4,677
26,850

Almost £18 million of the currently projected 2016/17 budget gap of £24 million can be
met through generating more income and making changes in how the Council
operates. This includes the implementation of the Government’s permissible Council
Tax rise and Adult Social Care Precept as well as increases in housing and business
rates, re-assessment of the assumptions regarding such as pay, reductions in the
Council’s liabilities in relation to pension and national insurance, projected rebates on
contracts and reductions in levies and waste funds and changes in treasury
management is completed.
From the proposals identified under the other categories there are a number that
require engagement and consultation. A detailed explanation of these proposals is
provided at Appendix 2.
INCOME / RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
Council Tax Increase of 1.99%
Council Tax Adult Social Care Precept
New Homes (Bonus & Tax)
Fees and Charges
Planning Fee income
Home Adaptation fee income
Selective Licensing Income
Garden Waste Service Fee increase
Pay Assumptions
Pay Assumptions
Pay Rise limited to 1%
Pension and NI Review
National Insurance Review
Pension Strain Fallout
Levies and Waste Fund
Use of Waste Fund
Reducing cost of Levies
Procurement Contract

2016/17
£000
2,200
2,200
1,693
351
50
85
20
196
1,700
1,000
700
3,000
2,000
1,000
2,408
1,000
1,408
350

Brief Description of Proposal
Permitted increase in Council Tax
Precept for Adult Social Care
Aim to build new houses beyond pledge
Increase in demand for services
Increase in demand for services
Increase in demand for services
Increase charges for Garden Waste
Contain Pay within existing resources
Pay award budget at 1% rather than 2%
Realign National Insurance budgets
Short term pension costs ending
Support waste initiatives
Previously agreed allocations
Contract Rebates

INCOME / RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
(continued)
IT Maintenance
Finance and Treasury Management
Transitional Fund reserve
Business Grants
Treasury Interest on borrowings
Treasury Minimum Revenue Provision
Community Fund
War Widows underspend

2016/17 Brief Description of Proposal
£000
300 Upgraded IT needs less maintenance
3,710
250 End revenue contribution to fund
300 Unallocated match funding for grants
1,860 Reduce borrowing requirements
450 Restatement of asset life
750 One-off resource from the Fund
100 Declining numbers reduce need
17,912

MANAGING DEMAND

2016/17
£000
200
400
900
1,900
- 1,300

Children & Young People Inflation
Children & Young People Demographics
Adult Social Services inflation
Adult Social Services Demographic
Extra Care Housing
Savings proposals to meet demand:Girtrell Court
Single Safeguarding Board with LCR
Self Assessment

DELIVERING DIFFERENTLY
Estate Management - Buildings
Digital Strategy
ICT
Communications
Occupational Health
Community Safety
Anti-Social Behaviour Provision
Community Patrol
Dog Fouling Enforcement Team
Leisure Centres and Golf
Beechwood Leisure Centre
Leisure
Municipal golf courses
Libraries
Parks & Open Spaces Project
Pest Control

Brief Description of Proposal
Objective to cover growth & inflation
Objective to cover growth & inflation
Objective to cover growth & inflation
Objective to cover growth & inflation
Delayed implementation of saving

155 Re-provide in independent sector
40 Working in partnership across the LCR
500 10% reduction in Council provision
2,100
2016/17
£000
365
375
241
111
23
367
165
150
52
641
73
500
68
203
180
30
2,161

Brief Description of Proposal
Implementation of estate reduction
Increasing automation reducing costs
Income and restructuring
Online booking system
Stay Safe Operations at reduced level
Become self funded via partners
New model similar to litter enforcement
Transfer of Centre
Review of concessions
Wallasey and Arrowe Park income
Other providers / community transfer
Full review of Service
Commercial review of charges

SERVICE CHANGES
Education and Mental Health
Child & Adolescent Mental Health
Education Social Welfare Service
Public Health
Funding of Council Health Services
Health Trainers / Promotion
School Hubs
Recovery through nature project
Data for the drugs and alcohol service
Workforce training programme
BME Health Improvement Service
Get into Reading
Young Peoples Outreach Programme
HIV Prevention Service
On-line Counselling for young people
Public Health budget reductions
Public Health Grant Reduction
Highways and Road Safety
Winter Service – Grit Bins
Highways Maintenance Works
Road Safety
Supported Housing
Supported Housing Contracts
Homeless Prevention
Strategic Housing Services
Staff Pay / T&C’s
Unpaid Leave
Car Allowances
Enhancements
Discretionary / Welfare Support
Closure of Welfare Rights Unit
Discretionary Housing Payment

2016/17
£000
160
100
60
800
2,271
838
50
51
39
30
53
132
46
27
25
239
(3,000)
320
30
200
90
591
500
50
41
2,400
1.200
600
600
406
106
300
4,677

Brief Description of Proposal

Changes to funding of the service
Reduction in line with DFE benchmark
Ending of temporary funding support
Re-commission for different approach
Ending ‘pump priming’ as self sufficient
Decommission contract
Decommission contract
Decommission contract
Decommission contract
Contract reduction
Contract reduction
Contract reduction
Contract reduction
Unfilled posts and declined need
Projected reduction from Government
Residents fill if they wish to use them
Use revenue only for safety works
Remove crossing patrols at pelicans, etc
Reduction in contracts (part agreed)
Reduction in costs
Reduction in costs
Continuation of 4 days unpaid leave
Removal of essential user car allowance
Removal / reduction of pay enhancements
Link to alternative services (such as CAB)
Funding at level of Government Grant only

APPENDIX B
BUDGET PROPOSALS 2016/17
PROPOSALS FOR ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION
The following pages provide Cabinet with a summary of the proposals for savings
which will be subject to public consultation.
Consultation on these proposals will close on 29 January 2016. The feedback
received by the Council will then be provided to Cabinet in order to allow for informed
decisions to be made in setting the Council’s budget for 2016/17.
All are further supported by detailed Equality Impact Assessments.
The proposals detailed on the following pages are:Proposal

£

Community Safety

367,000

Discretionary Housing Payments & Advice

406,000

Girtrell Court service re-provision

155,000

Highways Maintenance and Road Safety

320,000

Leisure Centres and Golf Courses

641,000

Libraries Re-provision

203.000

Parks Community Partnership Working

180,000

Charging for the Pest Control Service
Charging for the Garden Waste Service

30,000
196,000

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Community Safety
£367,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
This proposal would see the Council make changes across a number of its
community safety services, moving towards being financially self-sufficient, through
increasing income from external organisations such as schools and landlords, while
at the same time making a small reduction in the management of the service.
We will also put a major focus on reducing dog fouling throughout the borough
through increasing enforcement activity.
CONTEXT
The 2015 Residents’ Survey identified reducing crime and anti-social behaviour as
residents’ number one priority. This was particularly so in places such as Birkenhead
and Wallasey. Residents have also identified dog fouling as one of their primary
concerns related to anti-social behaviour.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
Instances of anti-social behaviour have reduced in Wirral every year for the past
seven years. Achieving this saving would allow the Council to retain its community
patrol service, on a sustainable financial footing, for the longer term. It would not
reduce the front line element of the service, and would also allow us to target our
resources at those areas where residents have told us it is a priority for them.
HOW WE WILL DELIVER
We will immediately begin to work with the Police, with registered social landlords
and community organisations to review our approach to community safety; making
sure our approach is truly integrated with partners. This approach will enable the
Council and partners to share intelligence and resources as well as adopt more
efficient and effective ways of working. We will make sure our resources are targeted
at those areas where residents feel they are most needed.
We will also increase our efforts to reduce dog fouling in the borough, through
commissioning a private organisation to deliver enforcement activity, based on the
same approach as has been successfully implemented to reduce litter.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Discretionary Housing Payments & Advice
£406,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
The Council receives a grant from Government to pay for Discretionary Housing
Payments. This grant falls short of the cost of the payments the Council makes. This
proposal would see the Council limit the payments to the level of the government
grant amount.
This option would also involve the Council stopping its current ‘welfare rights’
service, due to similar services being provided by other organisations such as the
Citizen’s Advice Bureau, which are also funded by the Council.
CONTEXT
Councils administer the Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) scheme alongside
the Housing Benefit scheme. The DHP is a specific government grant which the
Council ‘tops up’ and this proposal would involve the Council not adding this ‘top up’
and reviewing how the available grant is administered to target the most deserving
cases.
This option will also seek to re-provide Welfare Rights Support, which provides
advice to residents primarily around benefits and tax credit awards and achieves
increased benefits awards in excess of its annual costs.
On the basis that similar services are delivered by independent providers within the
voluntary and community sector, we believe that we can seek to re-provide this
service in a different way at less cost to the Council.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
The Council needs to review all areas of discretionary spend and find ways of
achieving savings which have the smallest possible impact on residents, particularly
the most vulnerable. In these areas it is proposed that we make better use of the
shrinking resources which are available to keep them targeted at the most vulnerable
residents.

HOW WE WILL DELIVER
Should this option be accepted we will begin the process of changing how welfare
rights advice is delivered and change our approach to administering the
Discretionary Housing Payment grant.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Girtrell Court service re-provision
£155,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
Girtrell Court is a respite breaks facility, providing short breaks for carers of Adults
with complex physical and learning disabilities.
This is the only directly provided care home for adults owned by the Council. The
majority of this type of care, in Wirral and across the country, is now provided by the
independent sector.
The care that is currently being provided at Girtrell Court could be provided by an
extensive range of independent providers across the borough and the region. The
Council could achieve increased choice, better value and ensure the same quality of
care and support through following best value commissioning practice.
CONTEXT
The site at Girtrell Court is used by 120 people who have learning and/or physical
disabilities. The building is a ‘respite’ service, which is primarily used to give the
persons’ family a short break from their caring responsibilities.
This proposal would see the Adult Social Services Department working with the
individuals currently using the service to re-provide the current service to people and
families currently using the facility to identify alternative ways of offering respite
breaks.
This would include consideration of community based provision, supported breaks,
shared lives and alternative building based services. The services would be
provided within Wirral and at a level which is appropriate to the needs of the person
and their family.
The Council has a duty to ensure that a range of services are available to meet
identified need, work is currently underway to ensure that this is available.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
The extensive site upon which Girtrell Court is situated is also ideally suited for
developing alternative housing to meet the needs of disabled people. Such
developments are required for both our ageing population and Adults with disabilities

to provide alternative more independent models of accommodation and support in
line with what people want. These forms of care provide a much better option for
vulnerable people than traditional residential care.
HOW WE WILL DELIVER
To deliver this proposal, we will work with people who use this facility to make sure
the services they receive can be re-provided in suitable alternative locations.
We will cease provision of respite care from this site whilst developing options for
new forms of housing on the site. We will enter into formal consultation with the staff
team who will be affected by the proposed re-provision.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Highways Maintenance and Road Safety
£320,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
The condition of Wirral’s highways is among the best in the UK, and Residents’ have
indicated that they should remain among our highest priorities. This proposal would
see the Council use only Government grant – and not council revenue funding – for
preventative road maintenance.
It would also see the Council retain all 298 roadside grit bins, but require
communities or constituency committees to fund filling the 198 bins which are not on
the Council’s gritting priority routes for grit bins. We would also work with education
and health partners; including schools to explore seeking alternative funding – or
stopping – the operation of school crossing patrols in those locations where a
pedestrian crossing is also in place.
CONTEXT
The Council has a legal obligation to maintain highways and over the years has
worked to ensure that Wirral’s roads not only meet legal obligations but are among
the best maintained in the UK. This proposal would not stop road and pavement
maintenance, but would limit the amount of funding invested in it to just the amount
required to ensure legal and safety obligations are met.
We also have an extensive programme of winter maintenance, with 10 routes
covering large parts of the borough throughout the winter period to address ice and
dangerous driving conditions.
This activity is supplemented by grit bins in residential areas, which are regularly
filled by the Council and used by residents. 100 of these bins are in locations which
are appropriate to effectively support the gritting routes, with an additional 198 being
installed at the direct request of residents through community grant funding a
number of years.
Many residents are already aware that the grit bins only bring limited benefits – due
to the inefficient spread of the salt, and its low effectiveness on lightly trafficked
roads and when the temperature of the road is very cold. There are also a number of
operational factors including the fact that the time taken to refill all grit bins often
exceeds the period of bad weather.

This option would also review the school crossing patrols which are currently at 40
sites across the borough where there is already a pedestrian, pelican or puffin
crossing in place. We believe that, due to the crossing facilities which are in place 24
hours a day, the demand and requirement for a school crossing patrol is greatly
reduced. Before this option is implemented, a full risk assessment will be completed
on every crossing site.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
In terms of highway maintenance, the Council is in a position to ensure that the
borough’s road network remains in safe and effective condition through targeting our
work and making better use of the government funding we receive to perform
preventative maintenance activity. We will also be able to put measures in place –
through community organisations and constituency committees – to make sure that
the 198 grit bins involved in this saving continue to be filled.
In terms of school crossing patrols, surveys conducted in 2012 and 2013 indicate
that they assist more than 20,000 people daily at all sites across the borough. Of
these, 11,000 people use the sites where a permanent pedestrian crossing is
already place. To support the change, additional road safety education and training
will be delivered in schools to reduce the impact of the removal of any crossing
patrol. Where patrols are to be removed, we will seek alternative options such as
health and education partner funding, including schools who may wish to continue
the service by paying for the provision of the patrol at that site.
HOW WE WILL DELIVER
The Council will, if this proposal is accepted, begin working with health and
education partners, including schools, as well as community organisations and
residents to put measures in place to achieve the saving in this area with very little
impact on residents.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Leisure Centres and Golf Courses
£641,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
Our 2015 Residents’ Survey told us that this was our lowest priority service: this
does not mean it is not important, but rather that residents feel it is not where the
council’s limited resources should be invested. Our ambition is to find a new way of
running leisure centres, to keep them financially viable. To achieve that ambition we
must make the operating business model sustainable and attractive. Our leisure
centres at the moment run at a combined cost of over £4 million per year.
To reduce this subsidy, and put the leisure centres in a position where they are more
sustainable for the long term, we need to remove many of the discounts and free
access to the facilities which we currently offer. This includes providing free access
to the facilities for long-serving Council staff, to foster carers and their families, and
free swimming for under 18s during school holidays and over 65s between 9am and
12pm. We will also continue negotiations with the community over the potential
transfer of Beechwood Recreation Centre, keeping a much valued facility open and
operated by the community it serves.
CONTEXT
We want to ensure that residents have access to a range of good quality leisure
services, but ‘leisure’ is much broader than what the Council offers and our approach
does not necessarily mean that the council should run seven leisure centres at a
cost to the taxpayer of over £4 million each year.
Wirral Council’s leisure centres are in a competitive market place and therefore we
must consider stopping providing free access to the facilities unless there is an
absolutely compelling case to do so. Last year almost 70,000 free swims were taken
at Wirral’s leisure centres by under 18s, with people often travelling into Wirral from
across the City Region to take advantage of the offer.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
We believe that we need to take a different look at how
leisure is
provided/facilitated by the council and find new solutions for encouraging people to
access fitness and leisure facilities. To put us into a position to do that, our leisure
centres need to move towards a more commercial business model.

The Council running seven heavily subsidised leisure centres across the borough is
difficult to justify in the current economic climate, and given its other priorities and
obligations. We believe that by making changes to how the services are offered we
can begin to significantly reduce that subsidy and put the facilities onto a more
sustainable financial footing.
This will in turn increase the chances that we will be able to find a trust, community
organisation or not-for-profit company who will be able to run the facilities on behalf
of the Council – as has been done in many other areas – to keep them available for
the communities and residents who use them.
HOW WE WILL DELIVER
Operating leisure centres on a much more commercial model: with free access and
concessions at a minimum, hugely strengthens the business model and makes the
potential of transferring the entire service area into a trust or different delivery vehicle
much more attractive and possible.
If this proposal is accepted and we remove concessions, we will continue to review
how leisure centres are operated – encouraging more people to use them and
become members to drive up income and making further efficiencies in how the
centres are managed and operated.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Libraries Re-provision
£203,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
Wirral must and will ensure we always enable and provide a comprehensive and
efficient library service, which meets the needs of our communities. This proposal
would see the Council make a relatively small saving through working with
community organisations and volunteers to increase their involvement in running
Council-funded library buildings.
We do not believe we will have to close any library buildings as part of this proposal.
We are already seeing many community organisations, groups and volunteers take
an active role in running their local library; we believe we can encourage more of this
work and allow the Council to make the savings we need while keeping the facilities
open for the communities who want them.
CONTEXT
The Public Libraries and Museums Act (1964) places a general duty on every local
authority to provide a comprehensive library service. Councils need to meet the act
through paying particular regard securing a sufficient number, range and quality of
avenues to access content, by any appropriate means. We are also required to
encourage people to use library services, and access advice and support.
The broad definition of a library is ‘a collection of sources of information and similar
resources, made accessible to a defined community for reference or borrowing. It
provides physical or digital access to material, and may be a physical building, a
room, a virtual space, or a combination of them all.’
Our vision is of a library service in Wirral which meets community needs through:
Enabling Wirral residents to have access to a lively and engaging reading offer, to
make sure that they can access relevant resources, information and support and that
they can be supported to get online.
Some key pieces of insight and information related to our current library offer
include;


Residents have told us that libraries, and related areas such as arts, culture and
museums, should not be among our highest priorities – only 9% of residents have
indicated libraries as being most important to them.





Library usage is falling throughout the country as people find new ways to access
books and content.
Wirral has more libraries than the national comparator and all but one of our
regional neighbouring authorities.
Wirral has more libraries per head of population than the national comparator and
all but one of our regional neighbouring authorities.

The library is important for all communities in Wirral, and it is an offer we believe we
can invest resources into in a different way, to expand and make it more widely
available. We can build upon our current approach to open up new channels to
access the core library offer of accessing books and content.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
We must be clear on the future of the service and – particularly – how we deliver the
offer to residents. We want resident to be able to access a library service which is
comprehensive and efficient, but also for it to be delivered in a way which is
designed according to their needs. We believe we can do these across four main
themes:
Our view of the future scope of the service is covered in four themes:
Visit the library. We know people enjoy, they value and they sometimes rely on the
traditional library building. They go there to read books, meet friends, access the
internet and a wide range of other support. We must and will retain a major element
of this in our future service model.
Have the library come to you. We also know that a library building isn’t right for
everyone, and that bringing the library offer closer to the community will help us
support literacy, access to books and access to content to those neighbourhoods
who most need that support. A modern, agile outreach service should play a key role
in delivering on our vision in the future.
A library in your home, or on your phone. The use of traditional libraries is falling
year-on-year and people want different ways to access content and read books; we
need to move with the times and think differently too. 86% of Wirral residents have
access to the internet; with 6 in ten having access to a home laptop or PC. This
access will continue to rise and we must make sure our offer keeps up with this
demand through continuing to improve and refine our digital library service.
A library you can run. Only one in ten Wirral residents say they would not consider
volunteering, and half say they would if they knew what was available. Over 1 in 4
residents are already volunteering in some form. We must capitalise on this
community spirit and harness it to find new ways of providing the library offer.

HOW WE WILL DELIVER
Implementing this proposal will over time see an improved library offer, with a
redefined and strengthened purpose, which has a greater reach into the community.
It will see less council-funded library buildings, but instead an equivalent library
service that is supported by an enhanced outreach and digital offer and a much
greater volunteer and community owned provision.
To get there, we will begin discussions with stakeholders: including individuals,
community groups and other organisations who have indicated they are willing to
work with us as we transform the service.
This approach is not, and cannot, be about simply deciding which libraries we keep
and which libraries we close. We are not approaching it in that way. We know we
can deliver this service in a different way and that we can make sure our library
service more than meets our statutory obligations, that it delivers the right outcomes
for residents and that it is financially stable and sustainable in the longer-term.
Moving more libraries into community ownership will mean we have more volunteers,
and therefore we require less staff and over the course of the next year we believe
we can be in a position to transfer up to 12 of our current physical library buildings
into community ownership. That means we can start to open up new access points
for library services – in other council buildings, other partner buildings such as health
centres and begin to grow our digital offer.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Parks Community Partnership Working
£180,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
Wirral has 240 parks and open spaces which the Council maintains; the
maintenance of which currently provides good value for money. This proposal would
see the Council achieve savings through increasing opportunities for community
groups and volunteers to take a more active role in our parks and open spaces .
CONTEXT
Our current service provides good relative value for money – based on cost per head
of the population. We do have many more parks and open spaces than the average
local authority; reflecting the heritage, nature conservation and visitor appeal of
Wirral.
Our residents’ survey has told us a number of things which are important here.
Firstly, that they don’t believe parks and countryside should be a huge priority for the
Council, but also that 9 in 10 residents have visited one of our parks during the past
year. So we know that people think other things are more important, but they also
value and enjoy our parks and open spaces.
The survey has also told us that we have thousands of residents who are already
volunteering to good causes in Wirral and thousands more who are prepared to
volunteer if we gave them the right information and opportunity.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
We believe that there is an opportunity to further build on this community
involvement, and over a five year period expand the volunteer input around our
parks and open spaces, thereby reducing the strain on the council for their
maintenance.
HOW WE WILL DELIVER
This option would involve a focus on income generation and increasing pride and
community involvement in local areas, resulting in less maintenance, clean up and
support being needed from the Council for parks and open spaces.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Charging for the Pest Control Service
£30,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
The Council delivers a comprehensive pest control service for residents, businesses
and organisations. Parts of the service are provided at a cost, and some other
elements are currently provided for free, including treatment services for rats and
cockroaches. This proposal would see the Council begin to charge landlords,
business and those residents who can afford to pay.
Local businesses may benefit from the review of this service as the Council will be
competing on a more commercial basis with reduced subsidies.
CONTEXT
Under the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949, the Local Authority has a duty
to take such steps as may be necessary to secure so far as practicable that their
district is kept free from rats and mice.
The exact definition of this duty is not clear and many Councils now charge for this
type of service. The proposed charge being introduced for the treatment of rats
offers excellent value when compared to commercial charges by the larger private
companies.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
The introduction of the charge for rats and the commercialisation of the service
reduces the impact of the Council on private pest control firms that operate within
Wirral.
There are a number of private businesses which operate in Wirral that offer pest
control services and a number of well-known DIY stores located in Wirral that sell a
range of products that can be used to control the common pests which Wirral
Council currently treat.
If this budget option was approved Council customer service staff would be trained to
provide general advice on where to go to get advice on home treatments and what
alternative private pest control companies operate in Wirral. The Council will also
make sure it provides accurate and helpful information to residents on how to
mitigate any risk of pest and rat problems.

HOW WE WILL DELIVER
People who are dissatisfied with the increased charges could choose to self-treat or
opt to use the wide range of commercial businesses, large and small, that offer pest
control services in Wirral. As and when in-house expert advice is required that
cannot be provided by our existing officers, expertise would have to be sought
externally through our network of contacts or bought in, as required.

BUDGET 2016-17
Savings Proposal for Consultation
Proposal
Saving in 2016/17

Charging for the Garden Waste Service
£196,000

SUMMARY OF OPTION
The Council provides a discretionary service which collects garden waste from
residents’ homes. The service currently costs £35 per year per household.
This proposal would implement an increase in that charge, resulting in each resident
who wants the service to pay £40 per year, with a discount of £5 if they pay online.
This increase amounts to around 10p per week.
CONTEXT
The garden waste service was launched in its current form three years ago, and
around 40,000 residents buy the service from the Council.
WHY THIS OPTION HAS BEEN PUT FORWARD
Since the service was launched there has been no price increase and it is therefore
thought a small increase now would be appropriate. This service is entirely optional,
and people are able to dispose of their garden waste in a number of different ways;
including composting and waste collection points.
HOW WE WILL DELIVER
People who are dissatisfied with the increased charges could choose to cancel their
subscription or use a different method to dispose of their garden waste. The Council
will publish, as part of ongoing communications campaigns about waste and
recycling, detailed information related to the options residents can take should they
not wish to continue receiving the service.

CABINET
17 DECEMBER 2015
PROPOSED COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER
305, 307 AND 321 BOROUGH ROAD
BIRKENHEAD

COUNCILLOR PHIL DAVIES
Councillor Phil Davies, Leader of Wirral Council, said:
“This decision is a clear demonstration of our determination to ensure an attractive
local environment for Wirral residents – a Pledge we committed to in our Wirral Plan
for 2020.
“These properties are in the heart of Birkenhead; an area which is absolutely vital to
the future economic prosperity of Wirral and an area which is set to benefit from a
transformational programme of regeneration in the coming years.
“The purchase of these properties, and the additional investment of £100,000 for
landscaping and environmental work to improve the area, is a step in the right
direction and I’m sure local people will join me in welcoming this decision.”
REPORT SUMMARY
This report updates Members on the progress made in acquiring properties within
the block 305-329 Borough Road, Birkenhead. In addition the report requests that
Cabinet authorises the use of Compulsory Purchase Order powers under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990: Section 226(1)(a) to acquire the remaining
properties, numbers 305, 307 and 321 ( “the Order land”) shown coloured pink and
edged in red on the plan at Appendix 1. This will enable the Council to undertake
environmental improvement works to a key road corridor into Birkenhead Town
Centre.
This report affects the Birkenhead and Tranmere ward and is not a key decision.

This is a key theme under the Wirral Plan:
Environment for Wirral Residents.

20/20 Vision, An Attractive Local

This report contains exempt information set out in paragraph 3 of Part 1 Schedule
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and includes the current position with
regards to negotiations to acquire remaining legal interests in the Order Land. The
exempt information is in Appendix 2.
RECOMMENDATION/S
1) That Members note the progress made in acquiring the properties.
2) The Council authorise the use of Compulsory Purchase Order powers under
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 226(1)(a), for the
acquisition of the Order Land to complete the acquisition of land and property
shown coloured pink and edged in red on the plan at Appendix 1.
3) That the Head of Legal be authorised to take all necessary steps to secure
the making , confirmation and implementation of the Compulsory Purchase
Order including the publication and service of all notices and the presentation
of the Councils case at any Public Inquiry and acquire the interests in the
Order Land either by agreement or compulsorily.
4) That Cabinet approves funding the environmental improvement works of
£106,026 as detailed in section 5.2 of this report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1

Acquisition of the Order Land is needed to carry out the environmental
improvements to the area.
To remove properties that are derelict and in a poor condition and
consequently detracting from the general amenity on Borough Road.
In the absence of a voluntary sale by the owners of the Order Land the most
appropriate compulsory purchase power is under Section 226(1) (a) as
explained in this report.

1.2
1.3

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1

Given the dilapidated condition and low demand for these properties,
demolition and landscaping the cleared site is deemed the most appropriate
course of action. Negotiations to conclude the acquisition of the Properties
within the Order Land will continue in parallel with the CPO process

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

The Order Land is located in a single terraced block in a prominent position on
Borough Road, adjacent to Birkenhead Central Library. Immediately to the
rear of the properties is Shaw Street, which is a block of terraced housing. St
Werburgh’s RC Primary school is also a short distance away.

3.2

The block previously consisted of a row of 13 terraced back of pavement
properties with walled yards to the rear. They originally comprised shop units
to the ground floor with residential accommodation above. Over time, some of
the properties have been converted into residential accommodation in the
form of flats. No retail or commercial businesses currently operate from any of
the properties. The block is considered to be in a dilapidated condition.

3.3

As Members will be aware, the Government established the Housing Market
Renewal Fund in 2003, which Wirral was a key partner through the
Merseyside pathfinder ‘Newheartlands’. The Council started a programme of
investigative work in relation to the future of houses, land and commercial
interests located in various ‘high housing market stress’ areas on the eastern
side of the borough, which included Birkenhead and Tranmere.

3.4

As part of the Housing Market Renewal Initiative, the Council commissioned
an independent consultant, GVA Grimley to undertake a comprehensive study
on the restructuring of local housing markets within Inner Wirral. The findings
of this formed the basis for the strategic document “A strategy for Inner Wirral
2004-2014”. The impetus of the strategy involves tackling low demand and
housing market failure in Inner Wirral.

3.5

The Strategy for Inner Wirral is based upon a comprehensive approach that
defines and prioritises areas for intervention. The Order Land was identified

as being within a high stress priority action area in the Neighbourhood
Development Framework for Tranmere and within an area that has been
designated as an opportunity for environmental improvements. At the time, as
with other priority areas, the Council authorised officers to make strategic
acquisitions as and when opportunities arose.
THE CURRENT POSITION
3.6

In 2006 the then owner of three properties, 325, 327 and 329 Borough Road
contacted the Council with a view to dispose of the properties and in
accordance with Cabinet approval (22nd July 2004, Minute 90) the Council
acquired the same on the 25th July 2006. 309 Borough Road was acquired on
the 12/6/2008 and the remaining properties 311, 313, 315, 317 and 319 were
acquired by agreement by the Council on the 5th June 2009. These were duly
bought in as strategic acquisitions as part of the Housing Market Renewal
Programme.

3.7

Over a number of years the block has fallen into a dilapidated condition. The
Council has now acquired all but three of the original thirteen properties by
agreement and all the properties that are owned by the Council are vacant
and have been secured to prevent acts of theft, vandalism and for health and
safety reasons.

3.8

In 2014, three of the Council owned properties 325, 327 and 329 were storm
damaged and subsequently had to be demolished as the buildings had fallen
into a dangerous condition.

3.9

Asset Management have been in negotiations to acquire the Order Land
which are the subject of this report, but to date this has not been successful.
(See exempt information in Appendix 2 for details).

1.0

COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDERS

4.1

The compulsory purchase process is intended as a last resort, should
attempts to acquire by agreement fail. The Council’s Legal department has
advised that a Compulsory Purchase timetable in conjunction with ongoing
negotiations should be drawn up as it is essential that the council minimises
any delay to the proposed environmental improvement works by completing
the statutory process as quickly as possible. In addition to the making of a
compulsory purchase order Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (‘’the Act’’), Section 226 (1) (a) states that on being
authorised to do so by the Secretary of State, a local authority has the power
to acquire compulsorily any land in their area if the authority thinks that the
acquisition will facilitate the carrying out improvement on or in relation to the
land. Under Section 226(1)(a) the Council cannot exercise this power under
s226(1) (a) unless it thinks that the improvement is likely to contribute to
achievement of the promotion and/or improvement of the economic, social or
environmental well-being of the Council’s area.

4.2

The Order site, because of its derelict nature and prominence has a
detrimental impact on the environmental well-being of the area. The
acquisition of the Order Land is essential for the following reasons:
[i]

To undertake environmental improvements of this prominent area
along Borough Road.

[ii]

To remove a derelict eyesore and the dilapidated properties

[iii]

In its present condition the Order site detracts from the amenity of the
area and if left in its present condition could hinder future inward
investment in the area.

[iv]

The site detracts from the improvements already completed in this part
of Birkenhead. Specifically, the environmental improvements that have
already been undertaken along adjacent neighbouring sites.

5.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The acquisition, legal and clearance costs and should this be necessary,
possible Local Public inquiry costs will be met from the residual Housing
Renewal budget that has been allocated for this purpose.

5.2

There are additional costs for the environmental improvements that are not
covered by the demolition. The Council’s Universal and Infrastructure
Services Department have designed a proposed landscaping and
environmental scheme for the site. This would involve creating a new footpath
and landscaping. The costs of this, including fees for planning and its
construction are estimated to be £106,026 across the cleared land. This will
be met from the Highways/verge maintenance budget.

6.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1

It is acknowledged that the compulsory acquisition of the Order Land will
amount to an interference with the human rights of those with an interest in
the Order Land. These will include rights under Article 1 of the First Protocol
of the European Convention on Human Rights (“ECHR”) (which provides that
every natural or legal person is entitled to peaceful enjoyment of his
possessions) and Article 8 of the ECHR (which provides that everyone has
the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his
correspondence. However, the acquisition of land ‘in the public interest‘ is
specifically allowed by the ECHR. The Council is of the view that there is a
compelling case in the public interest for the compulsory acquisition of the
Order Land which outweighs the ECHR rights and that the use of compulsory
purchase powers in this matter is proportionate as this will improve the
environmental well-being of the area.

7.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

7.1

Staffing costs will be met using current staffing resources within the
Regeneration, Private sector housing and Legal teams to take forward a CPO.

7.2

There will be future on-going maintenance costs for the upkeep of the
landscaped site. It is proposed that the site is adopted by the Council and
maintained by the Highways section.

8.0

RELEVANT RISKS

8.1

There is a risk that any Compulsory Purchase Order action taken will result in
objections being received which could result in a Local Public Inquiry. This will
prolong the time taken to secure ownership and demolition of the remaining
interests. As with all CPO proceedings it is difficult to project exactly how long
the process will take but this could be over 2 years from start to finish. The
service of the CPO in a timely manner will ensure that the Council has used
its best endeavours in relation to the procedural matters under its control.

8.2

Any objections formally made to the service of a CPO could result in a Local
Public Inquiry being held and there is a possibility that the Secretary of State
may not confirm the CPO following the Inquiry. However officers advise that
there is a compelling case in the public interest to use CPO powers for the
Order Land and are confident of a positive outcome.

9.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

9.1

Ward members and local residents have been informed of the proposal to
seek the use of Compulsory Purchase Order powers by Council Officers.

9.2

The owners would be notified and kept informed as the CPO process
progresses. Negotiations to acquire the properties by agreement will continue
in conjunction with the CPO.

10.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to
equality?
No because there is no relevance to equality.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Lee Parker
Regeneration Team
telephone: (0151) 691 8432
email: leeparker@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
1.

Map showing order properties

2.

Exempt information

REFERENCE MATERIAL
A strategy for Inner Wirral 2004-2014, (January 2004), GVA Grimley.
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

ZE
TL
A

16
2

30
5

31
5

ST
RE
ET

12

3

SH
AW

32

13

22

32
3
scale

title

Wirral Borough Council
Proposed Compulsory Purchase Map
305, 307 & 321 Borough Road, Birkenhead

1:500
date

map ref.

17/11/2015

58SE



© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. Published 2010. Licence number 100019803.
Tel: 0151 666 3884

Fax: 0151 606 2090

Asset Management Section, Universal & Infrastructure Services, Cheshire Lines Building, Canning Street, Birkenhead, CH41 1ND

CABINET
17 DECEMBER 2015
2015/16 QUARTER 2 CORPORATE PLAN
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT

CLLR ANN MCLACHLAN
Councillor Ann McLachlan, Deputy Leader – Transformation and Improvement
Portfolio Holder said:
“When we commit to delivering actions to improve the lives of Wirral people, as we
have in our Wirral Plan for 2020, it is vitally important that we track our progress
towards achieving them.
“This report is an excellent example of that robust monitoring: it helps us make sure
we are in the best possible place to achieve what we have promised, identify where
we need to focus our attention and to hold ourselves to account.”
REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out the Council’s Quarter 2 (July to September) performance against
the delivery of the 2015/16 Corporate Plan (as approved by Council 8 December
2014). The report is attached as Appendix 1 and sets out progress against a suite of
agreed indicators. The indicators relate to a range of pledges under the three Wirral
Plan themes of People, Business and Environment. This performance report affects
all wards within the borough. It is not a key decision.
Corporate Plan performance is monitored against the targets set at the start of the
year. For each measure, a Red, Amber or Green (RAG) rating is assigned
depending on the performance level against the target. The report also shows the
direction of travel illustrating for each indicator whether performance is improving,
deteriorating or sustained.

Of the 20 reportable indicators, 13 are rated Green, 4 are rated Amber and 3 are
rated Red. For indicators rated Amber and Red, the responsible officer has
indicated the corrective action being put in place to get performance back on track.
Of the 19 indicators where it is possible to indicate a Direction of Travel, 9 are
improving, 8 are deteriorating and 2 are showing performance sustained. The charts
set out below show the breakdown in terms of the RAG and Direction of Travel
ratings:
15%

Green
Amber
Red

20%

42%

47%

Improving
Sustained
Deteriorating

65%
11%

RAG Rating Breakdown

Direction of Travel Breakdown

RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet Members are requested to note the contents of this report and highlight any
areas requiring further clarification or action.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
To ensure Cabinet Members have the opportunity to review the Council’s
performance.

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
None - the report follows a standard format in line with the performance
management framework for the Corporate Plan.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
Whilst the Corporate Plan 2015/16 has been superseded by the Wirral Plan
2020 Vision, it still forms the basis of the in-year performance management
framework. A new Performance Management Framework will be developed
for the Wirral Plan once the associated Delivery Plan has been finalised.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are none arising from this report.

5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
There are none arising from this report.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
There are none arising from this report.

7.0

RELEVANT RISKS
The performance management framework is aligned to the Council’s risk
management strategy and both are regularly reviewed as part of Corporate
and Directorate management processes.

8.0

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
N/A

9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to
equality?
No because the report is provided for information.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Michael Callon
Team Leader – Performance and Scrutiny
telephone: (0151) 691 8379
email: michaelcallon@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 - 2015/16 Quarter 2 Corporate Plan Performance Report
REFERENCE MATERIAL
N/A
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Cabinet

10 September 2015

Cabinet

29 June 2015

Cabinet

15 January 2015

Council

08 December 2014

Cabinet

10 October 2013

Cabinet

19 September 2013

Cabinet

11 July 2013

APPENDIX 1 - 2015/16 QUARTER 2 CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT
Year End
Target
2015/16

Target

Actual

RAG

RECP02

To maintain local environmental
quality (LEQ) of litter, detritus, &
graffiti in main gateways and
shopping areas

93.5%

93.5%

96.67%

RECP03

Number of new affordable homes

250

100

RECP04

Number of adaptations
completed

2000

1000

RECP05

Number of interventions to
improve private rented sector
properties

2015-16 Corporate Performance Indicators
PI Ref
PI Title
Investing in our future

RECP06

Increase the number of jobs
created and safeguarded via
Invest Wirral

RECP08

Percentage of working age people
claiming out-of-work benefits
(economic in-activity)

400

975

13.6%

July - Sep (Q2)

200

175

14.4%

Year End
Forecast

DoT

Green

93.5%

↑

209

Green

250

↑

1351

Green

2000

↑

471

190

13.4%

Green

Green

Green

600

975

13.6

Corrective Actions (Red or Amber)
Context (Green/where provided)

↑

Most of this years activity has been in the first two quarters due
to the introduction of the Selective Licensing Scheme, a significant
increase in the next two quarters is not anticipated. The year-end
forecast will be reconsidered again at Q3.

↓

The Direction of Travel (DoT) for Q2 2015/16 has been assessed
as a deterioration from this time last year because of the lower
number of jobs created and safeguarded. However, last year's
figures were due to a spike from the volume of Regional Growth
Fund (RGF) Grant Applications awarded. Current performance is
on track to meet or slightly exceeded the Q2 2015/16 year-end
target.

↑

Q1 (to February 2015) performance is the latest information
available, Q2 performance will not be available until late
November. Performance remains on track to achieve or exceed
the year-end forecast.

2015-16 Corporate Performance Indicators
PI Ref

PI Title

RECP18

Develop and deliver the Wirral
Selective Licencing Scheme
(WSLS)

Year End
Target
2015/16

Target

Actual

RAG

100%

50%

50%

Green

July - Sep (Q2)

Year End
Forecast

DoT

100%

↔

Corrective Actions (Red or Amber)
Context (Green/where provided)

Promoting Independence

CSC003

Rate of Children in Need (CIN) per
10,000

The number of Children In Need has increased due to the
following:
• There has been an increase in the rate of referrals into
Children’s Social Care. This is both initial referrals and rereferrals.
• Within the system there remains a need, both internally and
externally, for a better understanding of the thresholds for
intervention and levels of need in respect of children and their
families.
350.0

388.0

396.2

Green

381.4

↑
The following actions are being taken to improve this measure:
• Ensuring the Threshold of Need is understood internally and
externally and associated correct intervention is applied
rigorously.
• Review Children In Need cases that have been in place longer
than 6 months.
• Improve the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub screening process.
• Utilise the early help offer and ensure it is consistently applied.

2015-16 Corporate Performance Indicators
PI Ref

CSC008

ADCP07

ADCP11

PI Title

Rate of Looked After Children per
10,000

Year End
Target
2015/16

96.2

Permanent Admissions of older
people (65+) to residential and
nursing care homes, per 100,000
population

696.9

Proportion of new requests for
support resolved by advice and
information

50%

July - Sep (Q2)
Target

98.2

724.9

Actual

101.0

762.5

RAG

Amber

Amber

Year End
Forecast

100.3

696.9

DoT

↓

↓

Corrective Actions (Red or Amber)
Context (Green/where provided)
The number of children entering care has been has been
relatively stable for the past five years; however, children are
remaining in care longer than in other authorities. A decreasing
target has been set for this measure to bring Wirral more in line
with the North West average and that of our statistical
neighbours.
The department is maintaining a tight control of the processes
around children becoming looked after. There is also a focus on
the following areas:
• Increasing the use of Child Protection Plans
• Progressing plans for Special Guardianship Orders (SGO)
• Improving the timeliness of adoptions
Additional social work capacity has been agreed as part of the
strategy to reduce the numbers of Children in Care, with the
additional capacity targeting the areas highlighted above.
Increased legal capacity has also been arranged to progress
applications through the courts. This is to meet the target
timescales set.
The year to date target has been exceed by 10 placements. The
department is seeing significant additional pressures due to selffunders falling below the support threshold, the total number of
people requiring support to date in 2015/16 is 40 compared to a
total of 37 across the whole of 2014/15.
The additional Intermediate Care / Transitional beds
commissioned with effect from 1st September will impact on the
use of long term beds. Performance continues to be scrutinised at
monthly locality performance surgeries.

50%

55%

Green

54%

↔

2015-16 Corporate Performance Indicators

Year End
Target
2015/16

Target

Actual

RAG

75%

75%

78%

Green

July - Sep (Q2)

PI Ref

PI Title

ADCP16

Proportion of people who have
received short term services to
maximise independence requiring
no ongoing support

PHCP01

Rate of attendance at A&E for
injury and assault where alcohol
was a factor.
PHOF 2.18: Alcohol-related
admissions to hospital.

820

820

PHCP02

NHS Health Check programme by
those eligible – Health Check
offered (PHOF 2.22i)

20%

10%

14.7%

PHCP03

NHS Health Check programme by
those eligible – Health Check take
up (PHOF 2.22ii)

55%

55%

30.6%

727.02 Green

Year End
Forecast

DoT

77%

↑

820

↑

Green

20%

↑

Red

55%

↑

Corrective Actions (Red or Amber)
Context (Green/where provided)

Reporting period Sept 14-Aug 15
Performance continues on a positive downward trajectory, one
that it has generally sustained for the last two years. This is to be
welcomed, and further work is planned to get a better
understanding of the factors that may be driving this downward,
so that this can be sustained.

Reporting period Apr 15-Sept 15
It has recently become apparent that there are problems with the
validity of the quarterly uptake figures owing to the incorrect
recording/analysis of 'invitations offered'. A review of data
validity is currently underway and figures will be updated
accordingly. However, variability in practice performance remains
a key challenge.
Actions to address performance issues include:
- Regular practical support to practices via the public health
practice nurses
- A pilot to test out the potential impact of Point of Care testing
- Update training for frontline staff delivering health checks
- Re-issuing comparative performance profiles
- New publicity materials (posters, flyers, video)

2015-16 Corporate Performance Indicators
PI Ref

PI Title

PHCP04

Proportion of opiate drug users
that left drug treatment
successfully who do not represent to treatment within 6
months

PHCP05

Proportion of non-opiate drug
users that left drug treatment
successfully who do not represent to treatment within 6
months

Year End
Target
2015/16

10%

July - Sep (Q2)
Target

10%

53%

53%

£38.0m

-

Actual

8.9%

46.9%

RAG

Amber

Amber

Year End
Forecast

10%

53%

DoT

Corrective Actions (Red or Amber)
Context (Green/where provided)

↓

Reporting period Mar 14 - Feb 15 (completions) and Mar 14 - Aug
15 (re-presentations)
After a period of sustained improvement, performance against
this measure has dipped slightly. However, current performance
(8.9%) still remains above the national average (7.3%). The
reporting period includes the transition of the contract to a new
provider and mobilisation of the new service. This has resulted in
a period of substantial change and service disturbance, with a
reduction in the number of people completing treatment in
February and March being noted. It is likely the reduced number
of successful treatment completions is a factor in bringing
performance down and performance is likely to dip as transitional
factors work their way through the process. It is anticipated this
could be the case for a further 3 or 4 months before the new
service is able to perform to the expected standard. A more
complete picture of the progress of the new service will not
emerge until January 2016.

↓

Reporting period Mar 14 - Feb 15 (completions) and Jan 14 - Aug
15 (re-presentations)
The performance of this indicator has shown a reduction since
the previous quarter but remains well above the national average
of 38.7%. As above, this performance will continue to be affected
by transitional factors for several more months.

Transforming the Council
TRCP02

Projected Delivery of Council
budget savings

£21.0m

Green £29.3m

N/A

In July Cabinet agreed to the reprofiling of savings into 2016/17
and funded from reserves in 2015/16.

2015-16 Corporate Performance Indicators
PI Ref

TRCP03

TRCP04

PI Title

Performance Appraisals
completed by September 2015

Sickness Absence: The number of
working days/shifts lost due to
sickness absence (cumulative)

Direction of Travel (DoT) Key

Year End
Target
2015/16

80%

9.75

July - Sep (Q2)
Target

80%

4.38

Actual

51%

5.38

Performance
Improving

RAG

Red

Red

Year End
Forecast

51%

12.06

DoT

Corrective Actions (Red or Amber)
Context (Green/where provided)

↑

This PI has a target completion date of September. As such, the
year end forecast figure is the same as the September Q2 figure.
The target of 80% was met for managers but not for all staff,
despite monthly communications via One Brief and weekly
reporting to Strategic Directors. The 51% out turn figure is a
significant improvement on the position at the same time last
year (29%). However, performance against this measure is being
reviewed by the Strategic Leadership Team in advance of the
2016 appraisals cycle.

↓

It is forecast that the year-end sickness absence will be 2.31 days
above the 9.75 day target. Management action continues to be
taken to reduce the level of sickness absence across the Council.
This includes changes to the Council’s sickness policy and triggers
from October 2015, Strategic Director-led sessions with managers
to set expectations and the development of an employee
wellbeing plan. On-going performance is being monitored closely
on a monthly basis to ensure that these activities are having a
positive impact.

Performance
Deteriorating

Performance sustained

CABINET
17 DECEMBER 2015
WIRRAL COUNCIL WASTE MANAGEMENT
STRATEGY 2015 - 2020

CLLR BERNIE MOONEY

Councillor Bernie Mooney, Cabinet Member for Environmental Protection said:
‘One of the remarkable things about living in Wirral is the fantastic environment we
all share. Our coastline and world class parks are second to none. As the Cabinet
Member responsible for protecting the environment, I know how hard our teams work
to collect your waste and maintain the environment.
However there is a need to do more in order to achieve waste targets at a time when
resources are reducing. We need to look for ways to improve the level of recycled
waste and we need the help of residents to do this.
We are currently recycling 36% of our waste, but legislation requires Wirral and all
other councils to recycle at least 50% of waste by 2020. We have identified a range
of options for consideration and incentives to help us improve and transform the way
we manage waste and with this strategy we are setting out how we intend to achieve
it. We will be working closely with residents and listening to their views before
making decisions about future waste collection’.
REPORT SUMMARY
The Waste Management Strategy 2015 - 2020 provides direction for the
transformation of the Council’s management of municipal waste over the next five
years in order to meet statutory targets for recycling and reductions to landfill
disposal.
Effective waste management is a crucial component of the Council’s drive to create
an attractive local environment across Wirral. As such the Waste Management

Strategy underpins the delivery of key strategic themes set out within the Wirral Plan
and directly supports Pledge 20 ‘Attractive Local Environment for Wirral Residents’.
The transformation of the Council’s waste management and achievement of
legislative targets will realise reductions to the significant waste disposal costs the
Council incurs, currently over £15M per year.
An options appraisal exercise will be required to determine optimal arrangements for
the Council’s future waste management. Such an exercise will recognise the
contrasting demographic profiles across the townships and communities of the
borough and that a ‘one size fits all’ approach will not work.
The Council’s Waste Management Strategy complements the Merseyside Recycling
and Waste Authority’s (MRWA) ‘Joint Recycling and Waste Management Strategy
2011 – 2041’ (JRWMS) and forms part of a suite of district authority strategies that
provide the local delivery mechanism for achieving the aims and objectives of the
JRWMS.
This matter affects all Wards in the Borough and is a Key Decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S
Cabinet are requested to:
(1) Approve the Wirral Council Waste Management Strategy 2015 – 2020 appended
to this report;
(2) Approve the commencement of an options appraisal exercise to consider future
waste management arrangements; including the use of external support for
project validation as outlined in Section 6.0;
(3) Instruct officers to make recommendations for future waste management
arrangements to a future Cabinet upon the conclusion of the options appraisal
exercise.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0

REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
In order to meet statutory and corporate targets for waste management, the
Council must establish new systems for the collection of municipal waste as
quickly as possible.
The Council’s current recycling performance is behind the level required to
meet the 2020 targets and although the existing waste management system
can be improved, such improvements will not meet the required targets alone.
The Waste Management Strategy 2015 – 2020 sets out the medium term
requirements for waste management legislation and the scale of the task
required to achieve 50% recycling by 2020. The Strategy also provides a
framework for the future direction of the Council’s waste management, which
includes an action plan and a series of options for future waste stream
collections.
The options appraisal exercise will consider the various waste stream
collection options to determine the optimal system that can achieve targets
as well as contribute to the Council’s medium term financial plan.
Transforming the Council’s waste management performance to reach the
50% recycling target will realise savings against the Council’s waste disposal
costs (the Council’s waste levy apportionment for 2015/16 was £15,530,841).

2.0

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
The identification of the optimal waste management arrangement will be
sought through the proposed options appraisal project, however new
arrangements are required in order for the Council to achieve the 2020 targets
for recycling and landfill diversion. Officers will consider a number of collection
models and options before making recommendations for the new and
required collection arrangements.
The existing arrangements and performance can be improved, particularly
through promotion campaigns to remind residents of recycling opportunities
and addressing barriers to participation, however this alone will not achieve
the 2020 targets.
To do nothing to improve current waste management arrangements will result
in the Council not achieving the 2020 targets and potentially liable to fines and
penalties. Projected savings to waste disposal costs through improved
recycling performance would also not be realised.

3.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1

Joint Recycling and Waste Management Strategy 2011 - 2041
The Councils of the Liverpool City Region and the Merseyside Recycling and
Waste Authority (MRWA) work together through the Merseyside and Halton
Waste Partnership. Some years ago the Partnership established a Joint
Recycling and Waste Management Strategy (JRWMS), to ensure a cohesive,
cost effective and environmentally beneficial approach is taken for the delivery
of waste management services across the Liverpool City Region.
Each of the City Region councils participated in the development and
establishment of the JRWMS several years ago.
The JRWMS has a number of key targets which the Merseyside and Halton
Waste Partnership has signed up to, these include:
-

Recycle 50% of household waste by 2020.
Reduce the amount of municipal waste landfilled to 10% by 2020 and 2%
by 2030.
Reduce the total amount of waste produced per household by 8% to
1227kg per household by 2020.

The JRWMS was established in 2011and is currently the subject of a refresh
after 5 years of delivery. The Merseyside and Halton Partnership meets
regularly to review progress against the JRWMS’s objectives and targets,
work has also started on the potential for sharing services and combining
resources to drive efficiencies and reduce costs.
3.2

Wirral Council’s Waste Management Performance
The Council established the Waste Management Strategy 2011 – 2014 to
form part of the JRWMS and support key aims and objectives through local
operational delivery. Since its introduction the strategy has enabled the
Council to drive service changes and improvements to performance. However
it now requires updating in order to meet future requirements and to become
aligned to the Council’s new corporate vision as set out in the Wirral Plan.
Over the past 10 years the Council has been one of the highest performing
authorities on Merseyside for recycling, having invested some time ago in
infrastructure and making changes to collection arrangements that
significantly increased participation in recycling. Wirral introduced alternating
weekly collections (AWC) between recycling (grey bin) and residual (green
bin) collections over a number of phases between 2006 and 2007. As a result
of this major service change, Wirral’s recycling rate increased from 12.4% in
2005/06 to 36.3% in 2008/09. A further recycling increase 4% was achieved
in 2010/11, due to the introduction of street sweeping recycling, which brought
Wirral’s total recycling to just over 40% in 2011/12.

However since reaching this position the Council’s recycling performance has
levelled out and in recent years dropped away. The introduction of a
chargeable garden waste collection service in 2013 resulted in the quantity of
garden waste tonnage collected reducing from 15% to 11%, with the garden
waste previously collected being composted or being put in the residual bin.
This has been the main cause of the drop in recycling performance, which has
seen a 4% reduction from the peak in 2011/12 of just over 40% to 36% in
2014/15.
3.3

Improving Existing Performance
Detailed analysis of recycling performance across the borough has
highlighted that the current waste management arrangement has capacity that
can be utilised to improve levels of recycling participation and reduce the
amount of residual waste collected.
The analysis has demonstrated that there is recycling capacity across the
borough from the highest performing areas to areas with low participation.
Therefore the early focus of the Council’s updated Waste Management
Strategy will be to improve performance from the existing waste stream
collection system.
Actions to increase participation and address recycling performance have
already been put in place with Cabinet approving a range of measures
including free replacement grey recycling bins and free bin repairs, the
recruitment of recycling officers to deliver recycling initiatives and deployment
of an alleyway dumping investigation team to deter dumping.
Further actions and initiatives are also due to be carried out, these include:
-

Targeted high profile marketing campaign to promote recycling and
support residents to do more. The performance analysis exercise will be
used to effectively target residents with different messages and support.

-

Targeting homes that are not presenting grey bins for collection, recycling
officers have worked with the Biffa collection crews to build up a data base
of locations to target.

-

Collections from additional residual green bins that are not authorised will
be stopped following notification.

-

The refuse crews have each received updated instruction on recycled bin
contamination arrangements.

Through the renewed focus on recycling participation and improvements to
existing arrangements, it is anticipated that the Council’s recycling
performance will improve rising to 42% by 2017/18.

3.4

The Cost of Waste Disposal
The Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority (MRWA) charge each
Merseyside collection authority, including Wirral Council, a levy for the costs
of disposal for waste generated. The formula used to apportion disposal costs
is based on tonnages accumulated and contains an incentive for waste that
can be diverted away from landfill.
Wirral Council’s waste levy apportionment for 2015/16 is £15,530,800 which
was a £445,000 increase from the 2014/15 apportionment. The increase in
apportionment was due to a number of factors but was mainly down to
Wirral’s levelling off of recycling performance against the relative improvement
in performance by other Merseyside authorities.
Therefore the Council, will instigate a number of exercises to improve
performance through the existing system as stated above.
The Council projects that the above exercises will improve performance to
42% by 2017. Such an upward shift in performance will positively affect
disposal costs and reduce the Council’s levy apportionment.
The waste levy is apportioned on an annual basis, however there is a time lag
caused by calculating the formula using previous year’s tonnage and
performance figures.
Therefore reductions to the Council’s apportionment through improvements to
current waste management system may not be realised until 2017/18.
However the levy apportionment formula is due for review as part of the
strategic review of the MRWA’s governance. Any changes to the formula will
require unanimous agreement of all parties, however the view forming
amongst the member authorities is that the formula must be changed to
enable necessary savings to be made across the board and to fully incentivise
recycling performance.
The transformation of the Council’s waste management arrangements and
achievement of the 50% recycling target will reduce disposal costs.

3.5

Options Appraisal for Future Waste Management
In order to achieve the target of 50% recycling by 2020 an additional 16,289
tonnes of current residual waste will need to be recycled (coming out of the
residual bin). The Waste Management Strategy sets out the projections in
waste collected required to achieve the 2020 target. The actions and
initiatives commenced to improve the current waste management system will
increase recycling performance as stated above, however it will not achieve
the 50% target alone. New waste stream collection arrangements will be
needed to create the necessary shift from residual waste collections to other
forms of recycling.

The Waste Management Strategy 2015 – 2020 therefore sets out options for
transforming waste management arrangements over the next 5 years to
achieve the 2020 target.
There are a range of options for increasing recycling performance to the
required level, for most of these there are examples in operation up and down
the country.
It is recommended that officers are instructed to assemble a project team to
commence an options appraisal project to consider and test these options in
order to make recommendations for the Council’s future waste management
delivery.
3.6

Enforcement of Waste Policies
One of the key issues for consideration as part of the options appraisal project
will be the provision of effective instruction to residents on the new waste
management arrangement as they are introduced. It is vital that residents
understand how the new systems will work and their role within it. The project
team will prepare options for the instruction to residents along with the most
effective ways of implementing it.
It is recommended that the Council involves residents at the earliest stages of
the options appraisal project, consulting them on proposals and listening to
their ideas and concerns. The options appraisal project will involve the
organisation of pilot studies to test proposed collection models and obtain
resident feedback, before making recommendations for the optimal system.
The Council’s waste policies will also require updating as part of the Waste
Management Strategy, enforcing policies such as no side waste and
contamination will be crucial to achieving the step change in recycling
performance and effecting required behavioural change for increasing the
numbers of households participating.

4.0

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
In line with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan the delivery of the
Waste Management Strategy will provide savings to the Council, both in terms
of reduced disposal costs through the waste levy and operating costs. It is
difficult to predict the saving in levy apportionment as it depends on the
relative performance of other member authorities which can’t be predicted.
The Council’s waste levy apportionment for 2015/16 was £15,530,841 this is
on top of waste collection costs for this year of over £7,600,000. The
longstanding waste levy appointment formula does not provide incentive for
recycling being tonnage based. However savings to waste disposal costs of
over £200,000 would be realised through the Council achieving the 50%
recycling target.

In line with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) the options
appraisal exercise will identify the financial implications of each potential
waste solution and set out the savings to be achieved from waste disposal
and operational costs.
It is proposed that external consultants are commissioned to validate the
recommendations coming from the options appraisal exercise and to provide
project assurance. It is recommended that Waste Development Fund is used
to meet the cost of such consultants up to the value of £50,000.
5.0

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The E.U. Waste Framework Directive 2008 provides the legislative framework
for the collection, transport, recovery and disposal of waste. The directive
requires all member states of the EU to take the necessary measures to
ensure waste is recovered or disposed of without endangering human health
or causing harm to the environment and includes permitting, registration and
inspection requirements. The Waste (England and Wales) (Amendment)
Regulations 2012 were laid before Parliament and the Welsh Assembly on 19
July 2012 and came into force on 1 October 2012.
For local authorities, the Directive includes targets for member states to reuse
and recycle 50% of household waste by 2020. The recycling rate for waste
from households in England was 44.5% in 2013/14. If the targets are missed,
there are provisions in the Localism Act for any fines imposed by the EU to be
passed down to local authorities.

6.0

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
The options appraisal exercise will be delivered in house within existing
resources, with officers due to report back with recommendations for the
optimal waste management solution and MTFP contributions. However due to
the importance of the decision to be taken about the Council’s long term
waste management, it is recommended that external consultants are
commissioned to validate the recommendations coming from the options
appraisal exercise and to provide project assurance. It is recommended that
Waste Development Fund is used to meet the cost of such consultants up to
the value of £50,000.
The delivery of the Waste Management Strategy’s objectives will require
significant initial expenditure to invest in the necessary infrastructure,
promotion campaigns and community engagement. However the Council,
along with the other Merseyside authorities, was allocated a portion of the
Waste Development Fund (WDF) by the MRWA to be used to transform
waste management performance. The Council’s allocation, received in 2014,
was £6.7M and £1.7M has been spent to date. The Council is obligated to
provide the MRWA with an annual update on WDF spend and its impact on
recycling performance. Therefore, subject to Cabinet approval, the Council

has the financial resources to deliver the strategy’s objectives and meet the
2020 target.
There are implications for the Council’s Refuse and Environmental
Streetscene Contract with Biffa and the variations that will be required to
facilitate the introduction of new collection arrangements. The waste
management contract will also be affected by any movement towards the
combining of collection arrangements for a City Region solution, such
implications (including financial) will be considered as part of the options
appraisal and the contract does provide for a break clause.
7.0

RELEVANT RISKS
The options appraisal project will consider the risk associated with each of the
future waste management option as part of the exercise. These will be
included as part of the presentation of recommendations at the conclusion of
the project.
However headline risks associated with the delivery of the Waste
Management Strategy include the following:

8.0

-

New waste collections streams do not create the required capacity to
facilitate the level of shift required from residual waste to recycling
provision.
Control – thorough testing and piloting of the recommended collection
model prior to implementation.

-

Participation levels in recycling fail to rise to the levels required to achieve
the 2020 target.
Control – resident engagement through forums and door stepping
exercises, detailed analysis of participation levels, ongoing follow up
support to residents.

-

Levels of fly tipped domestic refuse increase and increased levels of
contamination within recycling provision.
Control – enforcement of waste policies and promotion of action taken.

ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
It is proposed to utilise the outcomes of the Council’s initial Insight survey to
shape the approach to resident consultation and engagement exercises
regarding future waste management. Transforming the Council’s waste
management performance will require a significant increase in resident
understanding and participation. Therefore obtaining the views of residents,
councillors and stakeholders about recycling will be an integral part of the
options appraisal exercise.
The Council employs 5 fixed term Neighbourhood Recycling Officers to
support recycling initiatives and liaise with residents to encourage participation
in recycling. These officers link in with partners out in the community and

could be further utilised through neighbourhood working to support wider
behaviour change in the community.
9.0

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to
equality?
No because a full Equality Impact Assessment will be conducted as part of
the options appraisal exercise on future waste management arrangements.
Equality of access and barriers to participation will be crucial aspects of future
waste management service delivery.

REPORT AUTHOR:

Mike Cockburn
Senior Manager (Waste & Environment)
telephone: (0151) 606 2453
email: mikecockburn@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Wirral Council’s Waste Management Strategy 2015 - 2020
REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting

Date

Report of the Strategic Director Regeneration and December 2014
Environment
–
Refuse
and
Environmental
Streetscene Services Contract – Enhanced Contract
Extension Offer Following Strategic Director
Negotiations.

Managing our Waste
2015 – 2020
Wirral Council
December 2015

i

Contents

1.0 Foreword...................................................................................1
2.0 Introduction ..............................................................................2
3.0 What We Know .........................................................................4
4.0 Our Priorities .............................................................................7
4.1 Priority One - Waste Prevention and Reuse ..................................................................................7
4.2 Priority Two - Residual Collections ................................................................................................7
4.3 Priority Three - Kerbside Recycling ................................................................................................8
4.4 Priority Four - Food and Garden Waste Collections ......................................................................9
4.5 Wirral Council’s Waste Collection .................................................................................................9

5.0 How We Will Deliver This Strategy...........................................10
5.1 Action Plan ..................................................................................................................................10
5.2 How We Will Know if We are Getting it Right.............................................................................12

6.0 Conclusion ...............................................................................14
7.0 Steering Group Members.........................................................15
9.0 References...............................................................................15

ii

1.0 Foreword

Councillor Bernie Mooney – Cabinet Member for Environmental
Protection
As part of the Wirral Plan, our ambition is to
achieve an attractive local environment for Wirral
residents. One of our key 2020 pledges is to
encourage residents to take pride in their local
community and increase personal responsibility,
to keep Wirral ‘clean and green’.
We will listen to local residents and act on their
suggestions, to ensure more residents see their
quality of life improve over the five years of the
Wirral Plan. We will support communities to take
action on local environmental issues such as
recycling, littering, fly tipping and dog fouling. We
are committed to tackling such environmental
crime and have established a strategy for local
environmental quality that will be used to jointly
deliver the attractive local environment pledge.
One of the remarkable things about living in Wirral is the fantastic environment
we all share. Our coastline and world class parks are second to none. As the
Cabinet Member responsible for protecting the environment, I know how hard our
teams work to collect your waste and maintain the environment.
However, there is a need to do more, in order to achieve waste targets at a time
when resources are reducing. We need to look for ways to reduce the quantity of
waste we create, and increase the percentage of recycled waste. To succeed in
this, we will need the help of you, our residents.
We are currently recycling 36% of our waste, but the European Union Waste
Framework Directive states that the UK must recycle 50% of household waste by
2020, which includes composting and reusing waste. We have identified a range
of options and incentives to help us improve and transform the way we manage
waste and with this strategy we are setting out how we are going to achieve it.
We will be working closely with residents and listening to their views in order to
make decisions about future waste management services.
The scope of the options will be far-reaching and won’t just be looking at waste
collections. It will also be looking at things like encouraging more home
composting, smart shopping to reduce the amount of packaging generated and
reusing or donating unwanted items like furniture or electrical goods, rather than
taking them to the tip.

1

2.0 Introduction
Wirral Plan Pledge: Attractive local environment for Wirral
residents.
Waste management is an important element of the Council’s pledge to create an
attractive environment for Wirral residents. Waste management plays a crucial
part in protecting the environment and concerns all aspects of the way in which
rubbish and discarded materials are dealt with across Wirral. It is also expensive
and in Wirral’s case costs well over £20M per year to undertake. Waste
management is governed by legislation, which requires local authorities to collect
domestic rubbish and arrange for its disposal. Such legislation also sets out
targets for recycling and reducing waste that goes to landfill. This strategy is
Wirral’s response to such legislation and provides a summary of how rubbish is
managed in the Borough, as well as setting out options for achieving the future
waste management performance targets.
The strategy provides a ‘route map’ for achieving recycling targets. The strategy
also compliments the work that is going on at a City Region level between all
Merseyside authorities to collectively improve waste prevention, reuse and waste
management, as set out in the region’s Joint Recycling and Waste Management
Strategy 2011–2041.
Over the past 10 years, Wirral has made significant progress on recycling targets
– as a result of waste collection improvements and a number of successful
initiatives. However, there is still much to be done in order to meet the targets,
particularly given that the Council’s recycling performance has levelled off in
recent years.
Vision
Wirral Council will take a lead role in supporting Wirral residents and businesses
to reduce waste and promote the recycling and reuse of what is generated.
We will build a belief across Wirral that waste has to be reduced; putting in place
measures that support residents and businesses to reduce levels generated.
There is recognition that transforming waste management performance is all
about getting more people participating in recycling and therefore providing
support and education to them will be crucial in effecting the behaviour change
required.
By 2020, Wirral will be achieving over 50% recycling of domestic waste and less
than 10% of non-recycled waste collected will be sent to landfill. Residents will
understand the importance of waste minimisation and be fully participating in
reusing and recycling their waste.
2

We will work with the youngest members of the community through the Eco
Schools initiative, to instil cultural values and expertise in environmental
protection at an early age.
Merseyside’s Joint Recycling and Waste Management Strategy 2011 - 2041
The disposal of the City Region’s rubbish is the responsibility of the Merseyside
Recycling and Waste Authority (MRWA) and as such Wirral and the other
authorities work with the MRWA as members of the Merseyside and Halton
Waste Partnership. The partnership works collectively to coordinate waste
disposal arrangements and has established a Joint Recycling and Waste
Management Strategy (JRWMS).
The joint objectives set out below have been agreed by the partnership. These
have been translated at a local level, in Wirral’s case, through the actions set out
within this strategy:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reducing the climate change/carbon impacts of waste management
Maximise waste prevention
Maximise landfill diversion/recovery of residual waste
Maximise sustainable economic activity associated with waste management
Reduce the ecological footprint of waste management activities
Promote behavioural/cultural change that delivers the strategy objectives

Resource Recovery Contract (RRC)
The MRWA has entered into a 30-year Waste Resource and Recovery Contract
on behalf of the Merseyside and Halton Waste Partnership, to treat the 430,000
tonnes per year of residual (non-recycled) waste.
Provisions in the contract include for a high efficiency energy from waste facility,
with combined heat and power, at a site in Teesside and a rail transfer station for
the transportation of the waste in Knowsley. Both facilities are due to start
operating from autumn 2016.
The contract will enable the Merseyside and Halton Waste Partnership to divert
more than 92% of its non-recycled waste away from landfill, which until now has
been the main method of disposing waste.

3

3.0 What We Know
Back in 2006 and 2007, Wirral introduced alternate weekly collections for waste
collection. This entailed general household waste being collected one week in a
green 240ltr wheelie bin and household co-mingled recycling (glass, cans, paper,
card and plastic bottles) being collected on the alternate week in a grey 240ltr
wheelie bin.
As a result of this major service change, Wirral’s recycling rate increased from
12.4% in 2005/06 to 36.3% in 2008/09.
Since then, recycling in Wirral has remained fairly steady. However, with the
introduction of a chargeable garden waste collection service in 2013, the quantity
of garden waste composted was reduced from 15% to 11%. This meant that the
overall waste recycled in Wirral dropped from 40% to 36%.
Figures 1 and 2 highlight Wirral’s waste management progress from 2009/10
until 2014/15.
Figure 1 – Kg of Household Waste Collected per Household per Year in
Wirral

kg/hh/yr

Total Quantity of Waste per Household per Year in Wirral
900
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

839
638

06-07

07-08

592

08-09

578

527

509

09-10
10-11
11-12
Reporting Year

518

503

502

12-13

13-14

14-15

4

Figure 2 – Wirral Recycling and Composting Performance

Wirral's Recycling & Composting Performance
45%

40.0% 40.7% 40.2%

% Recycling / Composting

40%

36.3% 36.2%

35%

31.7%

30%
25%

20.9%

20%
15%
10%
5%

37.3% 36.3%

12.4%

14.0% 14.4% 14.6% 14.9% 15.0%

14.2%
9.1%

22.4% 21.8%

25.3% 25.8% 25.1% 26.1% 25.6%

10.9%

Recycling

Composting
11.2% 10.7%

7.9%
4.5% 5.1%

Total Recycling
& Composting

0%
05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09 09-10 10-11 11-12 12-13 13-14 14-15
Reporting Year

Current Waste Management Services
Waste Prevention and Reuse
 We promote a number of waste minimisation and prevention activities through
our website and face-to-face interactions with residents, schools and
community groups. These include the ‘Love Food Hate Waste’ initiative,
home composting, furniture/household item reuse, the bin repair service,
reusable nappies, junk mail and community swap days.
 Wirral was successful in obtaining funding in 2014 for the employment of four
Waste Prevention Apprentices. They have been employed by the Council for
a period of one year and have been undertaking projects such as Zero Waste,
Climate Change, Textiles reuse, Furniture reuse within the Council,
Composting and Growing and Awareness/Promotion.
 Schools are becoming heavily involved across Wirral in waste prevention
activities, but there is much work to be done with schools to improve their
recycling performance. Three primary schools have trialled food waste
composters with encouraging results. Schools are being encouraged to audit
their waste and investigate whether more can be reduced and recycled.
Wirral is currently at the top of the Eco School leader board, with 60 Green
Flags awarded (47% of Wirral schools).
 With the introduction of a chargeable garden waste collection, Wirral heavily
promoted the national “Get Composting” scheme, further subsidising the
5

composting bins to offer them at half price (with a buy one get one half price
offer also in place). This led to a 439% rise in compost sales (based on 13/14
and 14/15 sales compared to 11/12 and 12/13 sales).
 The Council has been operating a free bin repair service over the past 18
months, to replace damaged bin lids and wheels. This is currently a free
service and uses parts salvaged from abandoned bins that have been
collected off Wirral’s streets.
Household Non Recycled Waste Collection – Green Bin
Coverage: 100% (146,420)
Receptacles: 240ltr: 138,320 households.
Sacks: 367 households.
Communal: 7733 households.
Frequency: Most of Wirral’s households receive a fortnightly residual waste
collection. Sack collections and some communal bulk bin collection properties
have a more frequent collection, due to the nature of the location and
container.
Kerbside Dry Recyclable Collections – Grey Bin
Coverage: 100% (146,420)
Frequency: Fortnightly with the exception of properties on the box service who
receive a weekly collection.
Receptacles: 240ltr: 138,320 households.
Kerbside: 55ltr box: 367 households.
Remainder of Wirral households have communal recycling areas and has a
mixture of 240ltr wheelie bins and 1100ltr bulk bins.
Materials collected: Plastic bottles, glass (no glass in kerbside box), paper, card,
cans and tins.
.
Kerbside Green Waste Collections – Brown Bin
Coverage: 38,287 (2014/15 final subscribers)
Frequency: Fortnightly (with 4 week break over Christmas/New Year)
Receptacles: 240ltr wheelie bins (free until 2016/17 – to be reviewed)
Materials collected: Green garden waste
Bring Sites
We have 9 bring sites with pods for recycled materials. There are a further 6
sites which are located on supermarket car parks and managed privately.

6

4.0 Our Priorities
In order to meet the challenging targets we have been set, we are looking to
make valid judgements and decisions on future waste management services.
This section provides an overview of Wirral Council’s intentions and options for
future waste management provision:

4.1 Priority One - Waste Prevention and Reuse
 We will work with our schools to encourage and enable them to reduce and
compost their food waste.
 We will set up a re-use portal, to donate unwanted council furniture to the
community.
 We will assess whether the bin repair service can be made self-sustaining,
thus preventing unused / damaged bins being sent for recycling or landfill.
 We are keen to offer annual Waste Prevention Apprenticeships, subject to
available funding, enthusing the next generation of waste professionals.

4.2 Priority Two - Residual Collections
 We will review collection arrangements for residual waste, in line with
objectives for minimising waste and maximising recycling performance.
 We will consider the introduction of smaller capacity residual bins for new and
replacement bin provision.
 We will put in place measures to improve public awareness of what can be
deposited in residual waste bins.
 We will continue to review additional green residual waste bin provision, to
ensure only those authorised are collected. Households not authorised will be
offered additional recycling capacity and advice.
 We will issue refuse collection guidance to all properties; thus ensuring that
residents moving into a new property or from outside of the Borough are
aware of Wirral’s waste collection arrangements.
 We will investigate alternative collection methods for terraced areas, to
maximise good waste management practice and recycling.

7

4.3 Priority Three - Kerbside Recycling
 The contract for the delivery of the recycling collection service is operated by
Biffa Waste Services Ltd and is due to run until 2027, with a break clause
option at 2023.
 Recyclate collected via this contract is sent to Veolia, the contractor
responsible for the sorting and sale of recyclate through their contract with
MRWA.
 We will work with the MRWA to explore expanding the range of plastics
collected through the kerbside service to include other dense plastics, yoghurt
pots etc. not currently accepted into the Veolia contract.
 We will continue to explore options for increasing the amount of small
electrical items recycled.
 We will run a number of targeted campaigns across Wirral, to increase capture
rates and participation in the kerbside recycling service. Detailed analysis of
recycling rates on a round-by-round basis and participation, in addition to lidlifting exercises to inform on common contaminants will be used, in
conjunction with the waste compositional analysis carried out on behalf of the
MRWA in 2010.
 Wirral’s young people will become waste experts – advising their parents and
caregivers in how best to reduce their household waste and recycle more.
Wirral schools currently on average only recycle 35% of their waste. Through
the introduction of the “Big Bin Challenge” and grants available for food waste
composters, we aim to decrease the number of general waste bins that a
school needs and increase their recycling. The target is 50 schools to reach
at least 50% recycling by the end of the academic year 2015/16 and 75 of our
schools recycling at least 50% by 2020 (with 30 of those recycling 70% or
more). By 2020, a third of Wirral’s schools will be composting their food
waste.
 Waste officers will liaise with colleagues in the Council’s planning department
to implement advisory notices for all planning applications for new housing, to
ensure all properties have sufficient storage and bin capacity for recycling
collections.
 We will work with partners such as social housing providers, to improve
recycling provision for multi occupancy dwellings.
 We will investigate rewards or other incentives to encourage recycling
amongst less engaged residents.

8

4.4 Priority Four - Food and Garden Waste Collections
 Wirral Council introduced a Garden Waste Subscription Service (Wirral
Garden Waste Club) in June 2013. The service will be reviewed at the end of
the three year period (March 2016).
 In the 2015/16 subscription year, additional brown garden waste bins were
provided free of charge, to encourage residents to apply for an additional bin
to be collected.
 The Council will investigate the feasibility of a separate food waste collection,
to divert kitchen waste from landfill.

4.5 Wirral Council’s Waste Collection
In addition, Wirral Council will lead by example and transform its own waste
management performance; with the view to minimising the amount of waste
collected and to increase the level of recycling throughout the Council.

9

5.0 How We Will Deliver This Strategy
In order to achieve the national target of 50% of household waste
recycled/composted by the year 2020, we have identified a number of options to
consider on the future management of waste. We will decide on the methods of
future waste collection arrangements through a detailed appraisal exercise and
consultation with residents.
This plan will be monitored and reviewed annually. Any initiatives proposed to
deliver the action plan will need to be formally approved by the Council.

5.1 Action Plan

Action

By When

Lead
Organisation

March 2020

MRWA

March 2016

Wirral Council

March 2016

MRWA

June 2016

Wirral Council

March 2017

Wirral Council

March 2017

Wirral Council

June 2016

MRWA

Priority One: Waste Prevention & Reuse
Theme Lead: Mike Cockburn
Promote waste minimisation and reuse actions
within the Joint Waste Prevention Action Plan to
Wirral residents.
Encourage and enable schools to reduce their
waste and recycle more, through engagement
with pupils and staff.
Carry out a review of the Waste Prevention
Apprenticeship, to assess the value and
sustainability of the programme.
Priority Two: Residual Collections
Theme Lead: Mike Cockburn
Review the Waste Management options for
household waste collection, to optimise waste
reduction and recycling from houses, flats and
terraced properties.
Review additional green refuse bin provision and
capacity, to ensure it is fair and consistent.
Issue notices, or guidance, to all residential
properties annually and on moving into a new
property.
Priority Three: Kerbside Recycling Collections
Theme Lead: Mike Cockburn
Explore the expansion of the kerbside recycling
service, to offer the collection of a wider range of

10

Action
materials e.g. plastic pots, tubs and trays, food
and drink cartons, electrical items and textiles.
Plan and implement a number of targeted
campaigns across the Borough, to increase
recycling participation and capture rate and to
improve awareness of prohibited items in the
green residual waste bin.
Investigate the use of incentives or rewards to
encourage increased recycling.

By When

Lead
Organisation

March 2017

Wirral Council

March 2016

Wirral Council

Dec 2015

Wirral Council

March 2016

MRWA

Priority Four: Food & Garden Waste Collections
Theme Lead: Mike Cockburn
Review Garden Waste Subscription service and
prepare proposals for future provision.
Investigate the feasibility of a separate food
waste collection, to divert kitchen waste from
landfill.

11

5.2 How We Will Know if We are Getting it Right
Based on the total waste arisings in 2014/15, to reach 50% Wirral will need to be
recycling/composting an additional 16,289.5 tonnes of our waste per year.
We estimate that since the introduction of a chargeable garden waste collection
service, there are approximately 3,800 tonnes of garden waste that is either
being home composted or going into the green residual waste bins. By ensuring
collection of only one green wheelie bin per household (unless prior authorisation
has been granted) and potentially reducing collection frequencies, Wirral should
be able to recapture this tonnage by 2017/18.
The MRWA conducted a waste compositional analysis in 2010, which suggests
that we are currently capturing only 65.8% of available “target” recycling. If we
were to capture all of the target recycling materials in our household waste
stream, including achieving the same garden waste tonnages as prior to the
subscription service, Wirral would be recycling 62,823.52 tonnes and 52.79%.
However, 100% capture rate is not likely.
In November 2015 we launched a campaign to increase capture rates across
Wirral, we aim to increase capture rate to:
• 75% in 2015/16 (34,668.83 tonnes)
• 85% in 2016/17 (39,291.34 tonnes)
If food waste collections are introduced in 2017/18 and Wirral recycles a realistic
tonnage, this will give us 7029.55 tonnes of additional recycling.
Figure 3 below shows our projected waste performance to achieving 50%
recycling by 2020, assuming a kerbside capture rate of 75% in 2015/16, 85% in
2016/17 and the introduction of revised waste management arrangements in
2017/18.

12

Figure 3 – Projected recycling and composting performance

Wirral's Projected Waste Management Performance to 2014-2020
60

Total Recycling (%)

50

52.87

52.87

52.87

33.02

33.02

33.02

45.62
40.05

40

36.31

30

25.56

33.02
29.13

19.85

19.85

19.85

16/17 17/18
Reporting Year

18/19

19/20

20
10.75

10.92

14/15

15/16

Dry Recycling (%)
Composting & Food (%)
Total Recycling (%)

12.6

10
0

Indicator
Current Performance
Priority One: Waste Prevention & Reuse
Indicator one: Household waste
502.15 kg/hh/yr
produced (kg/hh/yr)
Indicator Two: Schools recycling
35%
Priority Two: Residual Collections
Indicator one: Household waste
502.15 kg/hh/yr
produced (kg/hh/yr)
Priority Three: Kerbside Recycling Collections
Indicator one: Household waste
36.31%
recycling (%)
Indicator Two: Recycling capture
65.9%
rate (%)
Priority Four: Food & Garden Waste Collections
Indicator one: Household waste
10.75%
composted (%)

Source
Council
performance data
Council
performance data
Council
performance data
Council
performance data
MRWA Waste
Compositional
Analysis 2010
Council
performance data

13

6.0 Conclusion
Wirral Council must increase the level of recycling to meet legislative targets,
existing waste management arrangements can and will be improved to help meet
such targets; however they will not achieve them alone. New arrangements are
required along with a far greater level of resident participation; therefore we will
carefully consider the options for future waste management in full consultation
with residents, before making decisions about the way ahead.

14

7.0 Steering Group Members
Cabinet Member
Champion
Sponsor
Project Manager

Councillor Bernie Mooney
Councillor John Salter
Head of Service – Environment & Regulation
Senior Manager Waste & Environment

Project Team

Contracts Manager
Team Leader (Waste Prevention)
Team Leader (Environmental Enforcement)
Waste Performance Officer
Senior Finance Officer
Procurement Team Member
Constituency Manager
Group Solicitor
Marketing Officer
Business Analyst
Biffa Management

9.0 References
- EU Waste Framework Directive: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wastelegislation-and-regulations
- Joint Recycling and Waste Management Strategy 2011 – 2041:
http://www.merseysidewda.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2012/10/RESOURCES-MAIN-DOCUMENT.pdf
- Waste Compositional Analysis 2010: http://www.merseysidewda.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2012/10/RESOURCES-Waste-Composition-Final-ReportA.pdf
- MRWA Waste Prevention Programme: http://www.merseysidewda.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2012/10/RESOURCES-Waste-Prevention-SupplReport-L.pdf
- Get composting: http://www.getcomposting.com/
- Eco Schools: http://eco-schools.org.uk/

15

Document Status:
Date
Responsible Officer
Proposed Review Date
Approving Body
Wirral Council Cabinet
Partnership Board tbc

1st December 2015
Mike Cockburn
1st April 2016
Approval Date

16

